

Norfolk Local Access Forum

Date:	Wednesday, 11 October 2017
Time:	10:30
Venue:	Cranworth Room, County Hall, Martineau Lane, Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 2DH

Persons attending the meeting are requested to turn off mobile phones.

Membership

Martin Sullivan (Chairman)	
Chris Allhusen (Vice-Chairman)	Seamus Elliot
David Ansell	Ken Hawkins
Tim Bennett	David Hissey
Julie Brociek-Coulton	Pat Holtom
Rebecca Champion	Kate Mackenzie
Helen Chester	Ann Melhuish
Victor Cocker	Paul Rudkin
Geoff Doggett	George Saunders
Fabian Eagle	Jean Stratford
Mike Edwards	

Ex-Officio Member (Non-Voting):

Simon Eyre: Norfolk County Council Cycling and Walking Member Champion

For further details and general enquiries about this Agenda please contact the Committee Officer:

Hollie Adams on 01603 223029 or email <u>committees@norfolk.gov.uk</u>

Under the Council's protocol on the use of media equipment at meetings held in public, this meeting may be filmed, recorded or photographed. Anyone who wishes to do so must inform the Chairman and ensure that it is done in a manner clearly visible to anyone present. The wishes of any individual not to be recorded or filmed must be appropriately respected.

1. To receive apologies and details of any substitute members attending

2. Election of Chairman

To elect a Chairman for the ensuing Council year.

3. Election of Vice Chairman

To elect a Vice-Chairman for the ensuing Council year.

4. Minutes

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 5 July 2017

Page 5

5. Declarations of Interest

If you have a **Disclosable Pecuniary Interest** in a matter to be considered at the meeting and that interest is on your Register of Interests you must not speak or vote on the matter.

If you have a **Disclosable Pecuniary Interest** in a matter to be considered at the meeting and that interest is not on your Register of Interests you must declare that interest at the meeting and not speak or vote on the matter

In either case you may remain in the room where the meeting is taking place. If you consider that it would be inappropriate in the circumstances to remain in the room, you may leave the room while the matter is dealt with.

If you do not have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest you may nevertheless have an **Other Interest** in a matter to be discussed if it affects

- your well being or financial position
- that of your family or close friends
- that of a club or society in which you have a management role

- that of another public body of which you are a member to a

greater extent than others in your ward.

If that is the case then you must declare such an interest but can speak and vote on the matter.

6. Any items of business the Chairman decides should be considered as a matter of urgency

7. Public QuestionTime

Fifteen minutes for questions from members of the public of which due

notice has been given.

Please note that all questions must be received by the Committee Team (<u>committees@norfolk.gov.uk</u>) by **5pm Friday 6 October 2017.**

For guidance on submitting public question, please visit www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/councillorsmeetings-decisions-and-elections/committees-agendas-and-recentdecisions/ask-a-question-to-a-committee

Or view the Constitution at www.norfolk.gov.uk

8.	Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018-2028	Page 23
	A report by the Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage.	
9.	The Health benefits of walking and cycling	Page 102
	A report by the Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage.	
10.	Countryside access arrangements update	Page 104
	A report by the Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage.	
11.	Pathmakers - building organisational capacity	Page 107
	A report by the Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage.	
12.	Local Access Forum annual review 2016/17	Page 109
	A report by the Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage.	
13.	Norfolk Local Access Forum procedures	Page 115
	A report by the Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage.	

Date of Future Meetings

Date	Time	Venue
7 February 2018	10:30	Edwards Room, County Hall
18 April 2018	10:30	Edwards Room, County Hall
18 July 2018	10:30	Cranworth Room, County Hall
24 October 2018	10:30	Edwards Room, County Hall

Chris Walton Head of Democratic Services County Hall Martineau Lane Norwich NR1 2DH

Date Agenda Published: 03 October 2017



If you need this document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact Customer Services on 0344 800 8020, or Text Relay on 18001 0344 800 8020 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.



Norfolk Local Access Forum

Minutes of the Meeting Held on 05 July 2017 at 10.33am in the Cranworth Room, County Hall

Member:	Representing:
Martin Sullivan - Chairman	Motorised vehicle access / cycling
Chris Allhusen - Vice	Land ownership / management / farming
Chairman	
David Ansell	Walking / health and wellbeing
Rebecca Champion	Walking / Health and Wellbeing / geology
Victor Cocker	Walking
Mr M Edwards	GI and planning / conservation / sustainability
Seamus Elliott	Sport and outdoor recreation / cycling
Ken Hawkins	Walking / cycling
David Hissey	Cycling / public transport
Pat Holtom	Economic development / walking
Ann Melhuish	Equestrian / all-ability access
Paul Rudkin	Walking / GI and planning
George Saunders	All-ability access / health and wellbeing / voluntary sector
Jean Stratford	Youth and education / walking / voluntary sector
Officers Dresents	
Officers Present: Russell Wilson	Soniar Traila Officer (Infractructure)
	Senior Trails Officer (Infrastructure)
Graham Bygrave	Area Manager, South, Community and Environmental Services
Andrew Hutcheson	Countryside Manager (Trails and Projects)
John Jones	Head of Environment
Su Waldron	Project Officer, Environment Team
Charlotte Watts	Project Officer
Sophie Cabot	Senior Project Officer (Marriott's Way)
Hilary Cox	Representative of Norfolk Trails Group

1. Welcome and Introductions

1.1 The Chairman thanked Ken Hawkins and his wife for attending the recent conference and noted that points about health and tourism from this were included under the subgroup report.

2. Apologies for Absence

2.1 Apologies were received from Julie Brociek-Coulton, Geoff Doggett and Fabien Eagle. Also absent were Helen Chester, Simon Eyre, and Kate MacKenzie.

3. Minutes of last meeting

3.1 The minutes of the meeting held on the 19 April 2017 were agreed as an accurate record and signed by the Chairman.

3.2 <u>Matters arising:</u> Ken Hawkins queried the letter which it was agreed would be written to the Minister about permissive access issues. The Chairman confirmed that the letter had not yet been sent owing to the change in minister as a result of the General Election. The Chairman **agreed** to send a letter to the new minister, Michael Gove.

4. Declarations of Interest

4.1 There were no declarations of interest.

5. Urgent Business

- 5.1.1 The Vice-Chairman gave an update on permissive access issues; serious approaches had been received following circular letters to FWAG (Norfolk Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group). The Chairman and Pathmakers colleagues were putting together an application to fund some permissive access routes and were considering funding the cost of making the application. Interested parties were encouraged to engage with parish councils regarding keeping permissive access.
- 5.1.2 The Community infrastructure levy could not be used to fund permissive access according to government policy; the Senior Trails Officer (infrastructure) confirmed that the Norfolk County Council legal team would bring a statement to the LAF about this.
- 5.2 Pat Holtom arrived at 10:39am.
- 5.3.1 Issues related to permissive access were mostly seen in arable Counties like Norfolk.
- 5.3.2 It was suggested that communities be encouraged to look at other strategies to grant funding such as sponsorship or fundraising and that Local Access Forums should put pressure on Government to reintroduce access provisions.
- 5.4 Discussion was held over presentations received at meetings; Ken Hawkins raised concerns over the amount of presentations received. He felt time could be handled more efficiently with less time set aside for presentations and more time for discussion.
- 5.5 George Saunders arrived at 10:44am.
- 5.6.1 Pat Holtom felt it would be helpful to receive presentations prior to meetings; the Chairman reported that forward planning of meetings and topics to be discussed was due to be developed.
- 5.6.2 The Vice-Chairman suggested setting targets for time spent on discussion and presentation of reports.

6. Public Question Time

6.1 No public questions were received.

7. Countryside Access arrangements update

7.1 The Local Access Forum (LAF) received the update brought to address concerns

raised by them about Public Rights of Way Management and delivering the service in an economic and cost effective way. (see updated area map, Appendix A)

- 7.2.1 The Area Manager, South, Community and Environmental Services, clarified that the report covered April and May of 2017 only.
- 7.2.2 Higher levels of issues in South Norfolk were queried. The Area Manager, South, Community and Environmental Services, noted that customers in South Norfolk and Breckland were more likely to report issues. The Countryside Manager (Trails and Projects) reported a higher density of Public Rights of Way in South Norfolk.
- 7.2.3 Each of the three operational areas had its own budget.
- 7.2.4 It was queried whether the structure would be reassessed if differences across areas continued. The Area Manager, South, Community and Environmental Services, confirmed that data would be reviewed regularly and regular discussions were held with the South Countryside Access Officer.
- 7.2.5 It was confirmed that updates would continue to be brought to LAF; the Chairman **requested** an update at each meeting. Detail on issues seen in each area was **requested** in future reports.
- 7.3 Norfolk Local Access Forum **NOTED** the progress made to date since the Countryside Access Officer posts were introduced.

8. PRoW (Public Rights of Way) subgroup update

- 8.1.1 The Local Access Forum received the report providing an update from the latest PRoW subgroup meeting.
- 8.1.2 Minutes from the subgroup meeting were circulated see appendix B.
- 8.2.1 Three events rather than a single paths seminar were planned across 2017, one in West, one in North and one in South Norfolk.
- 8.2.2 The Senior Trails Officer (infrastructure) reported that the Norfolk County Council legal team were able to attend the next prow subgroup to answer questions; the Chairman **requested** that they attend a future LAF meeting.
- 8.3.1 <u>Maintenance and enforcement issues:</u> LAF **AGREED** that relevant legal staff be invited to the next meeting (18 September) of the PRoW subgroup to inform members of the principles and criteria determining the County's actions and plans in enforcement matters.
- 8.3.2 <u>Support for Footpath Wardens in parishes</u> LAF **APPROVED** proposed arrangements described in the report for the planning and holding of seminars.
- 8.3.3 Claims for lost paths

LAF AGREED that the County be asked by Ken Hawkins to inform the subgroup:
(a) What were the County's intentions regarding resourcing the department which would be required to consider claims over the next 8 years (to 2026)
(b) What was the County's policy in regard to orders it made: was there a general

policy to take a neutral stance on all orders (and if so, on what basis?) If not, by what criteria was the County's stance in each case determined?

9. Annual report on National Trail Development

- 9.1 The Forum received the report highlighting the key achievements of the National Trail, made up of the Peddars Way and the Norfolk Coast Path.
- 9.2.1 A noticeable increase in visitors along the Peddars Way was noted.
- 9.2.2 It was queried whether the £7.5m detailed in the report represented the total economic benefit to be realised from the project. A report and presentation would be brought to the next LAF meeting based on information gained from data counters along the trail to demonstrate the economic benefit of the project.
- 9.2.3 The Local Access Forum **NOTED** the report and **SUPPORTED** the work that the National Trail partnership had been doing both based on the report and into the future.

10. East of England Coast Path

- 10.1 The Forum received the report giving background on discussions which had been taking place on the potential for Norfolk, Suffolk and Essex County Councils to work together on the promotion and management of an East of England Coast Path.
- 10.2.1 The path was planned for completion by 2020.
- 10.2.2 Discussions had been held over the possibility of having a joint National Trails Partnership for the East of England. The South West Coast Path was being used as a model, which had seen a large economic benefit to the area.
- 10.2.3 Norfolk, Suffolk and Essex planned to put a bid into the Lottery Fund to fund an officer to research the feasibility of the proposal.
- 10.3 The LAF **SUPPORTED** the proposal for a funding bid to more closely examine the potential for an East of England Coast Path.

11. Green Pilgrimage NLAF Working Sub-Group

- 11.1 The Forum heard a presentation from the Project Officer on the proposal of a steering group to deliver walking routes for pilgrimage seeking to become a sub-group of NLAF to share knowledge and expertise. (see appendix C)
 - Pilgrimage, a journey from one place to another, could be religious but could also be for other reasons;
 - The historic environment service had helped look for sites which could be possibl destinations and route stops;
 - Walsingham was highlighted as an unsustainable destination due to poor prow access, and primary access being by road;
 - The Project Officer felt this project had shared objectives with the 15/16 LAF reviewed;
 - The Project Officer was keen to work with LAF due to the groups they represented, enabling input from a wide range of groups, interests and expertise.

- 11.2.1 It was highlighted that the Diocese Advisory Committee were looking at linking historic footpaths between churches and it may be useful to involve them in the project.
- 11.2.2 The criteria for a pilgrimage site was queried; the Project Officer replied that the project was in the early stages and information about the pilgrimage site was being researched.
- 11.2.3 A pilgrimage link between Walsingham and Canterbury had been previously discussed.
- 11.2.4 Investigating the viability of a pilgrimage route between churches was discussed.
- 11.2.5 The Churches Conservation Trust offered provision at some churches for people to stay overnight, providing scope for the pilgrimage project.
- 11.2.6 The churches at North and South Creake were suggested as pilgrimage sites, which would be suitable with Wells and Fakenham as the start point. For historic reasons, most footpath networks connected churches; watts noted that some footpaths had been taken up by roads.
- 11.2.7 A key permissive path from Binham to Hindringham would be lost in January 2018 which would affect access to Walsingham.
- 11.2.8 It was suggested that it would be beneficial to tie up with the work of the permissive paths sub-group and FWAG.
- 11.2.9 The Vice-Chairman proposed that it was too soon for a sub group to be set up and that many issues would be covered under the permissive rights of way and public rights of way sub groups.
- 11.2.10 The Head of Environment reported that there was a requirement to engage with the LAF, and that feedback, advice and support would be helpful due to the wide range of interests represented, either through a sub-group or through support of the project and LAF receiving updates and assisting when necessary.
- 11.2.11 the Project Officer clarified that the current funding applied for was to carry out research; from this further funding would be sought for the development of the green pilgrimage route.
- 11.3 The Vice-Chairman left at 11:35.
- 11.4 The LAF **AGREED** to support the Green pilgrimage project and for the permissive and public rights of way sub groups to provide advice when needed.

12. Pathmakers – Burgh Castle Launch

- 12.1 The report giving an update following the recent launch event for the Burgh Castle boardwalk on the 14 June 2017 was discussed by LAF.
- 12.2.1 Publicity was not as effective as expected; a letter had written to the EDP but the Chairman was unsure whether it had been published.
- 12.2.2 The Head of Environment commended LAFs involvement in delivery of this route.

12.3 NLAF **AGREED** to continue to act as advocates for Pathmakers and the new boardwalk.

13. Attendance at the National Local Access Forum Conference

- 13.1 The LAF considered the report giving an update following the Natural England Local Access Forum conference which took place on Wednesday 21st June 2017.
- 13.2.1 Ken Hawkins gave feedback from the Conference;
 - It had been heavily orientated towards plenary presentations which were useful and workshops were also available;
 - He felt that not as much opportunity was made for discussion and engagement by attendees as could had been;
 - He proposed that the LAF registered a view with Natural England that time should be given for LAF members to discuss issues and topics.
- 13.2.2 David Hissey agreed with Ken based on his experience at a previous conference.
- 13.2.3 Pat Holtom felt that input into the agenda would also be useful.
- 13.2.4 Seamus Elliott felt it would be helpful to have a representative from Government in attendance at conferences.
- 13.2.5 The Chairman suggested that the recommendations as agreed below be included in the improvement plan.
- 13.3 Norfolk Local Access Forum :

(i) AGREED to make approaches to health agencies to promote the access agenda into their work by showing how it helps them, and/or seek funding from them;
(ii) REVIEWED whether they could did more to link with tourism issues;
(iii) AGREED that the Chairman would write to Natural England on behalf of LAF to Represent views discussed above.

14. Marriott's Way HLF (Heritage Lottery Fund) Project

- 14.1 The LAF received the report and heard a presentation providing information on the Marriott's Way Heritage Trail Project (see Appendix D)
 - The project was led by the County Council;
 - Research would be undertaken by volunteers to look at archives, oral history, artefacts and their storage;
 - The project would include conservation of surviving railway structure and habitat management;
 - Work was underway with nurture groups, and future work was planned with other education groups;
 - Traineeships and university volunteer work experience would be available;
 - Public engagement events were planned and had been carried out.
- 14.2.1 the Countryside Manager (Trails and Projects) confirmed that sustrans were involved in the project,
- 14.2.2 An increase in visitors to the route were seen; 500,000 people walked the route in

2016, and the data showed this to be increasing in 2017, making it the most walked route in the East of England. Factors cited were improved lighting, better management and publicity and improvements to the route.

- 14.2.3 Carparking along the route at Lenwade and Attlebridge for commuters was discussed, and whether this could be developed further; The Countryside Manager (Trails and Projects) confirmed that this had not yet been considered under the park and ride strategy which involved a strategy around parking and cycling.
- 14.2.4 It was confirmed that funding for improvements at Whitwell had been withdrawn.
- 14.2.5 Overgrowth of Cawston hedge was discussed; the Senior Trails Officer (infrastructure) reported that businesses were reluctant for it to be removed as it provided screening.
- 14.3 Norfolk LAF **AGREED** to support the delivery phase of the MWHT (Marriott's Way Heritage Trail) Project as a key Stakeholder, by agreeing to continue to work closely with the Norfolk County Council project team.

Dates of future meetings:

The next meeting was 11 October in the Cranworth Room, County Hall

The Meeting Closed at 12:09

CHAIRMAN



If you need this document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.



Action by



Community and Environmental Services Minutes of Meeting Local Access Forum Public Rights of Way subgroup.

Held on: Monday 12 th June 2017		Time: 14:00 – 16:00
Venue:	Room 1, Floor 6, County Hall	

Present	Post Title
Ken Hawkins (KH) Jean	Norfolk Local Access Forum
Stratford (JS) Martin	Norfolk Local Access Forum
Sullivan (MS) Ian	Norfolk Local Access Forum
Mitchell (IM)	The Ramblers
Neil Cliff (NC)	U3A
Keith Bacon (KB)	CPRE Norfolk and Broads Local Access Forum
Russell Wilson (RW)	Norfolk Trails
Graham Bygrave (GB)	NCC Highways Maintenance
Su Waldron (SW)	NCC Projects Team

Item Minute

1.0	Apologies Andy Hutcheson (NCC); Ian Witham (IW) (Open Spaces Society);	
2.0	Sarah Abercrombie (NCC) (sick leave); Helen Chester (HC) (NLAF); Helen Leith (CPRE)	
	Minutes of the meeting on 27 th March 2017	
	Under point 4.1, swap the names of the Area Managers for West	
3.0	Norfolk Area and North Norfolk area.	
3.1	Otherwise the minutes were agreed as a correct record.	
	Matters arising from the minutes	
3.2	Walking and Cycling Strategy. Councillor Colin Foulger has been appointed as Walking and Cycling Champion. colin.foulger.cllr@norfolk.gov.uk	
	Maintenance and enforcement issues – update on recent actions. GB said that Countryside Access Officers had dealt with 440	
	separate enquiries since March 2017, with 248 cases completed. 50 concerned non-reinstatement notices	
	This was a similar level of enquiries to previously, but cases were being dealt with more effectively under the new arrangements.	
		}

Three specific cases were discussed:

• NC raise d a long-standing issue with access at Thompson. GB is seeking help from the legal team at NCC with this particular

case and agreed to send any key dates (magistrates' hearing for example) to the PROW group. RW suggested that someone from the legal team attends the next PROW subgroup GB meeting to report back on progress with this case. GB to arrange.

- KB raised an issue at Cess Staithe on Martham Footpath 1 where a diversion request from a boatyard is going to public enquiry. He had heard that NCC was facilitating the case and sought clarification on what that meant. IM said that NCC did not defend the public right – but rather prepared the case which was then handled by the planners. KH asked if there is a generalised policy on which applications for diversions (and definitive map modification orders) NCC would support or was each case judged on its merits? KH asked if the NCC policy on this could be made available for scrutiny?
- KB raised an issue with a path that has become impassable at Trunch and asked what the priorities for clearing paths are? JS said that this particular path would need another connecting piece of path reinstated also. GB to ask Sarah Price to confirm priorities and reasoning.
- KH said that he had heard that some cases have been closed on the NCC problem logging system ("problem not found, query closed") when they have not been resolved. GB offered to investigate with Jody Thurston.

GB

GB

4 Issues considered at the NLAF meeting on 19th April

- 4.1 3.2.1 Highways/Trails management. Family tree showing staff structure.
 - GB confirmed that the Countryside Officers report to the 3 Area Managers.
 - GB showed the meeting a map with Area Officers 'patches' and **SW** contact numbers/email addresses . SW to circulate.
 - KB asked for further detail of the department hierarchy and how the different teams involved with PROW fit together. RW confirmed that within NCC, the teams involved with PROW are: the Countryside Officers (and Assistants); the Definitive Map Team and Norfolk Trails.
 - GB said that due to department restructuring it would be better to wait until September before circulating family tree structures.
- 4.2 **7.5.2** Norfolk Access Improvement Plan. Next meeting has been postponed until SA's return in July/August.
- 4.3 11.3.1 Widening access to public paths.MS said he thought that this had not been followed up yet. He believed that Seamus Elliott might be dealing with this.

- 11.3.2 Support for footpath wardens in parishes.
 - RW confirmed that the Norfolk Trails handbook to encourage and recruit volunteers to help with footpath management was in the process of being revised (the current version is available on the Norfolk County Council website)
 - the Norfolk County Council website).
 RW said that the online system for logging reports on footpaths (the CRM system) was in the process of being overhauled to ensure that records of footpaths in favourable condition following inspection (ie a null problem) could be logged as well as those with problems.
 - The meeting discussed the proposal to run a second Parish Council Seminar. RW suggested that rather than a countywide conference, there could be three, each held at a location within each of the three Countryside Access Officers' areas.
 - Each would be an NLAF led event to support local action for PROW (volunteer focus and support for volunteering)
 - Information could be provided ahead of each meeting covering: definitions ('what are PROW'); the volunteer handbook (based on the Norfolk Trails volunteers' handbook); parish path partnerships; etc.
 - Information would be sent to all parishes (via NALC to the Parish Council clerk)
 - Approval for the approach would be sought from the NLAF (KH/RW?)
 - Timing for the conferences was discussed. MS suggested that the 3 area events could be held at different times. The meeting agreed that the first one would be held in Spring 2018 to give time to work up the itinerary.
 - JS suggested that it was important to fix the outputs required from the events at the next PROW subgroup meeting before any further logistics could take place – this was agreed. MS also said it was important for any system modifications (to CRM) to be in place beforehand also.
- 4.5 11.3.3 Claims for lost paths.
 - There is a 2026 deadline to register lost paths.
 - KH will be the point of contact for coordination of claims
 - IM said that regulations for definitive map orders were still being worked on by Defra (delays had been caused as the department was side-lined by Brexit)
 - IW and HC had put forward a lot of evidence in the claim they submitted which would make it easier to deal with by NCC's definitive map team. RW said that records should be as good as possible to help NCC

KH/RW

4.4

- The meeting agreed that the NLAF should consider the topic again and draw attention to the resources at NCC required to deal with claims; as it seemed that numbers of claims had risen and some recent ones had been rejected by the Planning Inspectorate because they contained errors.
- 4.6 Other items
 - No further items
- 5.0 Partnership and community working
- 6.0 Nothing to report

Reports from NCC officers

• Nothing to report

7.0 AOB

• IM asked if NCC is attending meetings concerning the route of coastal windfarm on-shore cables. RW confirmed that the Green Infrastructure Team at NCC Environment Team continue to attend meetings.

9.0 AOB

Nothing to report

10.0 Date of next meeting

Monday 18th September 2017 from 2pm to 4pm Meeting Room 1, Floor 6 at County Hall

Copy for information:

Appendix C























Shared objectives:

- Increasing routes for walking and access to outdoors in general
- Encouraging non-vehicular transport
- Rights of Way improvement / management
- Supporting and growing the visitor economy sustainably

From the 2015-2016 Annual Review Priorities:

- Assessment of the permissive access network and prioritisation of linking routes
- Working with parishes to achieve greater local involvement to keep path networks accessible.
- Pathmakers will look for appropriate opportunities to improve public access and consider effective ways to generate funding.





10

Appendix D



Who's in the Project?

Ownership/Management

NCC, Norwich, Broadland and South Norfolk

Railway Heritage Organisations E.g. Friends of City Station, Whitwell & Reepham Station, M&GN Circle

Natural Heritage Organisations

E.g. Friends of Train Wood, Norfolk Wildlife Trust

Communities along the route

Businesses along the route

Specialist Organisations E.g. Education, Countryside Access, Sustainable Transport, Archives, Tourism...



Partners & Stakeholders



Norfolk Courty Courd

20

The Heritage Lottery Fund has given NCC a 68% grant, towards a £668,000 three-year project to **research**, ottery fund conserve and interpret the railway and natural heritage of The Marriott's LOTTERY FUNDED Way. Permission to start was granted in late December 2016 All Systems Recruitment was undertaken in spring 2017 Are Go! The project team is now in place and work has commenced **The Current Situation** Norfolk Courty Cound





What's in the Project?

- A new Marriott's Way Heritage App.
- More on the web-site
- New Interpretation Boards and signage
- A new leaflet
- New Circular and Spur Routes leading of Marriot's Way
- Public Engagement Events
 - Runs and Walks
 - Vintage Cycling Rally
 - Promenade Theatre Production







What's in the Project?Formal learning activities for school

- and uniformed groups
- Curriculum activities
- Nurture Groups
- Badge work
- Informal learning activities for other young people
- Training and work experience for young adults
- Project traineeships
- Experience for university students doing education mentoring

Education



- Increased numbers using Marriott's Way
- Enhanced public records
- · Benefits to the local economy
- Improved health and well-being
- Educational attainment
- Improved employment prospects for young people
- Protection of more sensitive sites by visitor deflection
- Improved green infrastructure
- Implementing elements of the Marriott's Way Improvement and Delivery Plan for 2015-2025.



MARSHOTTS WAS

Outcomes

SNorfolk Courty Courd



Norfolk Local Access Forum

Item No.

Report title:	Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018 - 2028
Date of meeting:	11 October 2017
Responsible Officer:	Steve Miller, Assistant Director Culture and Heritage

Strategic impact

The Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018 – 2028 (NAIP) will replace the Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2007 – 2017 implementing the statutory duty for Norfolk County Council as the Highway Authority to review and publish a Rights of Way Improvement Plan every 10 years under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000.

Executive summary

The NAIP Sub-Group of the Local Access Forum is working with Norfolk County Council to develop a Rights of Way Improvement Plan for 2018-2028 when the current plan finishes. They recommended a wider brief and calling it the Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018 – 2028 – with a sub-heading explaining that it is Norfolk's Rights of Way Improvement Plan. They are now refining the text and proposing a consultation date starting in February 2018 with a final publication date of July 2018.

Recommendations:

Draft Text

- To agree the approach and format of the draft NAIP, and to submit individual comments, factual corrections and suggestions to NCC by mid-November in advance of the publication of the consultation version in mid-December 2017. Draft Statement of Actions
- That the aims and objectives in the draft Statement of Actions be agreed and used to inform an Annual Delivery Plan Consultation Process
- That the content and timetable of the consultation process is agreed

1. **Proposal (or options)**

1.1. Draft Text

The draft text and interactive format for publication has been developed with the NAIP sub-group of the NLAF, taking into account their views as on the attached document. It will be published online as an interactive pdf with a paper version available for those without online access.

Draft Statement of Actions - the aims and objectives in the draft Statement of Actions will be used to inform the NAIP Annual Delivery Plan.

We aim to create an easy to use, safe, healthy and sustainable way to enjoy the Norfolk coast and countryside.

1. *A well-managed Access Network.* We will develop a well-signed, maintained and network of routes accessible to all – both public rights of way and promoted trails - which provide access to coastal, rural and urban areas

2. *A well connected Access Network* We will develop an integrated green infrastructure network that provides opportunities for all users; improve connectivity and accessibility of the network and develop opportunities

3. *A well-protected Environment* – We will provide access to and understanding about protection of the natural and historic environment, managing the impact of visitors on protected and sensitive sites.

4. *A well promoted Access Network* – We will communicate Norfolk's outstanding countryside and the benefits of outdoor activity for all users; and develop a communications plan identifying key user groups (walkers, cyclists, horse-riders, motorised vehicle users, disabled users and new users)

5. *A well informed Access Network* We will keep up to date web-based definitive and interactive maps and other access network information making best use of new technologies

6. *A community based Access Network* We will increase the involvement of communities in the development of their local access network and work with Parish Councils, volunteers and other community organisations

7. *A healthy Access Network* We will improve the health and wellbeing of users through active travel initiatives and leisure use of the access network. We will develop support and projects for those who would benefit from additional physical activity as identified in the Norfolk Public Health Strategy, particularly those not currently using the network

8. *A Valuable Access Network* Maximise the economic benefits to Norfolk that are generated through the access network. Work with businesses, tourism agencies and DMOs (Destination Management Organisations) and others to maximise the benefits for the visitor economy

Draft timetable for consultation

The draft plan must be approved by the <u>NCC Environment, development and</u> <u>transport committee</u> prior to public and stakeholder consultation. The consultation period is at least 12 weeks (3 months). Both the Strategic elements and Statement of Actions will be consulted on.

We propose having two consultation mechanisms: a stakeholder 'drop in' event; and a public consultation. We will structure the public consultation with carefully worded questions and use an online survey (such as SmartSurvey) to handle the responses as well as a downloadable printed version. NAIP sub-group members have offered volunteer time to help collate responses to the consultations.

Date	What	Who
15/12/2017	NAIP consultation draft complete	NCC/NLAF
19/1/2018	NAIP consultation draft signed off	EDT Committee
1/2/18 to 30/4/18	NAIP consultation (stakeholders and the public)	NCC/NLAF
1/5/18 to 30/6/18	NAIP redrafted and completed	NCC/NLAF
1/7/18	NAIP published	NCC

2. Evidence

2.1. Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 <u>DEFRA guidance on local authority responsibilities for Rights of Way</u> <u>Improvement Plans</u>

3. Financial Implications

3.1. Cost of consultation and publication – there will be a significant saving on the previous consultation which was wide reaching, involving many events and officer time as well as a large print run. The consultation for the new version will need approval from the County Council Environment Development and Transport Committee. It will use an online form for feedback and be published online as an interactive document. There will be a print version for people who do not have online access with a small print run.

4. Issues, risks and innovation

- 4.1. 1) Budget for consultation see financial implications
 - 2) Staff resources including commitments of staff time staff time has been allowed to develop the draft document and to follow up from the consultation. The amount of staff time required has been reduced due to the help from volunteers particularly members of the Norfolk Local Access Forum and the NAIP sub-group
 - 3) Project Timescales there has been some slippage from the original timescales due to staff leaving and sickness however it is now on track for publication in July 2018 as in timetable above.

5. Background

- 5.1. Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 Rights of way improvement plans.
 - 1) Every local highway authority other than an inner London authority shall, within five years after the commencement of this section, prepare and publish a plan, to be known as a rights of way improvement plan, containing—
 - (a) the authority's assessment of the matters specified in subsection (2),
 (b) a statement of the action they propose to take for the management of local rights of way, and for securing an improved network of local rights of way, with particular regard to the matters dealt with in the assessment, and

(c) such other material as the Secretary of State (as respects England) or the National Assembly for Wales (as respects Wales) may direct.

2) The matters referred to in subsection (1)(a) are-

(a) the extent to which local rights of way meet the present and likely future needs of the public,

(b) the opportunities provided by local rights of way (and in particular by those within paragraph (a) of the definition in subsection (5)) for exercise and other forms of open-air recreation and the enjoyment of the authority's area,

(c) the accessibility of local rights of way to blind or partially sighted persons and others with mobility problems, and

(d) such other matters relating to local rights of way as the Secretary of State (as respects England) or the National Assembly for Wales (as respects Wales) may direct.

3) An authority by whom a rights of way improvement plan is published shall, not more than ten years after first publishing it and subsequently at intervals of not more than ten years—

(a) make a new assessment of the matters specified in subsection (2), and

(b) review the plan and decide whether to amend it.

- 4) On such a review the authority shall—
 - (a) if they decide to amend the plan, publish it as amended, and

(b) if they decide to make no amendments to it, publish a report of their decision and of their reasons for it.

Officer Contact

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper or want to see copies of any assessments, eg equality impact assessment, please get in touch with:

Officer name : Sarah Abercrombie Tel No. : 01603 224461

Email address : Sarah.abercrombie@norfolk.gov.uk



If you need this report in large print, audio, braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.

Appendix A



Norfolk Access Improvement Plan (NAIP) 2018 - 2028



Norfolk's Rights of Way Improvement Plan

Contents

page x	Foreword
Page x	Executive Summary
Page x	Introduction
page x	Progress
page x	Future needs
Page x	Gaps
page x	Network condition
page x	Crossover with other plans
Page x	Statement of Actions 2017-2027

page x Appendices

If you have any queries or would like further information on the Norfolk Access Improvement Plan, please contact:

Community & Environmental Services Norfolk County Council Floor 6 County Hall, Martineau Lane, Norwich NR1 2SG Tel. (01603) 222773 E: <u>environment@norfolk.gov.uk</u> W: <u>www.norfolk.gov.uk</u>







Executive Summary

The Norfolk Access Improvement Plan (NAIP)

The Norfolk Access Improvement Plan 2018-2028: Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2 (or "NAIP") sets out the priorities for improving our rural and urban access network for the benefit of people and wildlife. This includes public rights of way (PRoW), long-distance trails, other promoted routes such as circular walks/rides, quiet lanes, unclassified county roads (UCRs) and permissive paths.

The Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act (2000) requires Highway and National Park Authorities to make a new assessment of specified matters in their original Rights of Way Improvement Plans and to review these, deciding whether they should be amended, not more than 10 years from the date of publication.

The strategic review of Norfolk's Rights of Way Improvement Plan (2007-2017) considered the wider factors that influence both rural and urban access. Norfolk County Council produced a smarter live Action Plan which is being monitored by the Norfolk Local Access Forum (NLAF) and recognises the current priorities for the access network.

The NAIP will link to the Broads Integrated Access Strategy (monitored by the Broads Local Access Forum or BLAF) and will recognise shared goals for access improvement.

We aim for users to experience all that the network has to offer and

to enjoy the many benefits that come with this. For example, better provision for walkers, cyclists, equestrians, drivers of motorised vehicles and those with physical or mental disabilities and visual impairments. We also want to encourage more people currently not using the network to go out and enjoy the countryside.

In addition to the wide range of users, other beneficiaries include local businesses, landowners and the environment, all of which stand to gain from a high quality and better signed and promoted network.

The NAIP considers the benefits for Norfolk County Council and takes into account the Caring for Our County priorities and will contribute to caring for the environment and roads as well as caring for our money, the family, community, health and wellbeing and economy.



Refreshed aims and objectives

The new Action Plan works to a refreshed set of aims and objectives and includes a range of smart deliverables. These are divided into achievable i.e. those that we know we can deliver in the short and medium term and aspirational for the longer term.

There will be actions attached to our aspirational objectives that demonstrate how we intend to make these achievable. For example identifying and successfully obtaining external (national or European) funding for projects. We will be working closely with our project team and other partners to meet these objectives.

The evolutionary nature of the Action Plan means that it can be monitored and updated as necessary.





Achievements of the previous ROWIP 2007-2017

2.1 Overview

Strategic Review March 2015

A review of the current ROWIP was undertaken in 2014/15 with the Norfolk Local Access Forum (NLAF), which agreed a development framework and an updated action plan. It included public rights of way plus the wider countryside access network in its remit and was intended to form part of the preparation for the new 10 year plan.

Changes in the management of PROW

2.2 Strategic Context

There have been many changes in the way Rights of Way have been managed in Norfolk since 2007. Reduction in resources for local government has meant a change within Norfolk County Council, with a split in responsibilities as a Highway Authority – statutory maintenance going to <u>Highways Rangers Teams</u> and promotion remaining with the Environment Team and the rebranding of promoted routes under <u>Norfolk Trails</u>. The County Council responsibilities as a Surveying Authority - keeping a record of all Rights of Way in Norfolk - have remained with the Definitive Mapping Team. <u>Permissive Access</u> has also seen changes with the ongoing closure of Countryside Stewardship schemes and a reduction in the number of permissive paths available for public use.

Changes in legislation include implementation of the <u>Marine and</u> <u>Coastal Act 2009</u> creating new access rights on the <u>England Coast</u> <u>Path</u>.

There have also been many changes in the way other relevant national and local strategies and plans are managed – for example:

- <u>New Anglia</u> the Local Enterprise Partnership has taken the lead on Economic Strategies and Planning;
- <u>Public Health</u> has been incorporated into the responsibilities of the County Council;

- The East Anglia Tourist Board been replaced by <u>Visit East</u> <u>Anglia</u>;
- the Sports Partnership has created <u>Active Norfolk;</u>
- the <u>National Planning Policy Framework</u> has been introduced
- Parish Councils are now adopting <u>Neighbourhood Plans</u>.

Progress—assessment of needs and network provision

2.3 Progress since publication OF THE ROWIP in 2007

2.3.1 Assessment of Needs

The needs of users remain broadly the same -

- good signage and waymarking;
- well drained, robust surfaces in all weather conditions and
- good information about a route, both before a visit and enroute.

There are variations amongst user groups, but the needs have not changed significantly.

2.3.2 Assessment of the Network

The rights of way network is now xxxx miles and still remains largely available only to people on foot. Walkers are relatively well catered for with off-road cyclists, horse-riders, carriage drivers and motorists progressively less well supported. The reduction in resources for local authorities has meant that Norfolk County Council has had difficulty meeting the expectations of users and the common problems reported remain:

- Poor maintenance (vegetation not cut enough, uneven surface, muddy paths)
- Safety issues (primarily from motor traffic)
- Obstructions (locked gates, barbed wire fences)
- Poor continuity and connectivity of cycle and bridal routes
- Poor signposting/ waymarking

Considerable progress has however been made on promoted routes with a well signed network of long distance trails (Norfolk Trails) and circular routes. Norfolk has taken a lead on the implementation of the England Coast Path, with some of the first stretches in the country being opened between Weybourne and Hopton on the East Coast.



Progress—assessment of network adequacy

2.3.3 Assessment of Adequacy

Many of the key shortfalls identified in 2007 remain:

- Fragmented and uneven distribution of the network, particularly bridleways and byways
- Limited opportunities for people with disabilities
- Lack of good information for infrequent users to encourage them to go out onto the network

Again however progress has been made in many areas and notable improvements include:

- The establishment of 11 Long Distance Norfolk Trails maintained to a standard similar to the National Trails. Some, such as Marriotts Way and Peddars Way have good multi-user access.
- The establishment of Stretches 1 and 2 of the England Coast Path
- The creation of many other circular walks linked to Norfolk Trails and public transport where available
- The creation of the Norfolk Trails websiteThe creation of a series of Access Tested walks
Progress—processes and practices

2.3.4 Processes and Practices

Norfolk County Council as the Highway Authority is responsible for managing the Access Network

- Maintaining the surfaces of Public Rights of Way including the control of natural vegetation
- Assisting farmers and landowners with the maintenance of approved structures
- Signposting Public Rights of Way where they leave a road (note that some tarmac PROW in urban areas may not be signed).
 We may also arrange for additional waymarking after consultation with landowners
- Maintaining most bridges crossed by Public Rights of Way over natural watercourses including farm ditches (as long as the ditch was there when the path was first recorded)

As Surveying Authority, NCC is responsible for:

- Maintaining and revising the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way
- Making the Definitive Map and Statement in County Council and District Council Offices available, and to supply relevant extracts to Parish Councils. The Definitive Map is available online via the interactive map

Landowners have a responsibility for managing PROW on their land.

Progress— Statement of Actions (7 objectives)

2.3.5 Statement of Actions

The 2007-2017 ROWIP identified seven objectives, developed from the findings of the needs assessment and set out how Norfolk County Council planned to work with partners to achieve the objectives in the Statement of Actions. Each objective had aims, actions and an indication of resources required together with key partner organisations and performance measures.

Objective 1 – develop a well signed, maintained and easily accessible network. This objective was aimed at improving the management of the network.

The majority of measures within this objective as described were broadly achieved – however there were significant gaps in the availability of a baseline for management information which meant there were difficulties creating clear targets and the priorities were not clear.

Objective 2 – Develop and maintain an integrated network that provides for the requirements of all users. This objective aimed to integrate the ROWIP into a wide range of associated plans and policies to provide transport, economic, health and social benefits. Again, much good work was done and many plans and policies do now refer to the ROWIP.

Objective 3 – Improve promotion, understanding and use of the network. This objective aimed to address the need for better coordinated, branded and targeted promotion of the network, increasing public use and economic benefits to rural areas.

Much of this was achieved through the creation of the Norfolk Trails brand and website, funded projects, the establishment of a range of visitor counters on routes and the uploading of the Definitive Map onto the NCC website. Development projects included the upgrade and promotion of Angles Way, Boudicca Way, the Nar Valley Way and Weavers Way. A new Trail Wensum Way was created which connected up the Nar Valley Way with Marriott's Way and Wherrymans Way and allowed for a new 96 mile Cross Norfolk Trail from Kings Lynn to Great Yarmouth.

The work with the health sector was delivered by developing a series of over 100 health walks published as the Health Heritage and Biodiversity range of walks aimed at less frequent users and describing the suitability of routes for disabled users in attractive booklets which were very popular.

Progress— Statement of Actions (7 objectives)

Objective 4 – Encourage community involvement in improving and maintaining PROW. This objective aimed to increase public involvement in the protection and maintenance of the network.

The actions in this objective were limited in their ambitions, and the situation within NCC has changed considerably regarding the involvement of communities and volunteers – so a great deal more has been achieved by volunteers than originally envisaged. There has been less engagement however with landowners largely due to the reduction in PROW officer staff time.

Objective 5 - Develop a safe network of PROW. This action aimed to improve safety for walking, cycling and riding.

The Norfolk Cycling and Walking Strategy has addressed safety issues for walking and cycling and the Pushing Ahead project has a funding stream for safety improvement on the Highway network.

Objective 6 – Prepare and make publicly available an up to date digitised Definitive Map.

The Definitive Map has been digitised and is now available on the NCC website. Procedures for dealing with claims to add historic paths to the definitive map are described within the current NCC policy which deal with claims in the date order they are registered. This is significant in the context of the deadline to register unrecorded rights to paths by 2026 – see Clauses 20 – 26 of the

Deregulation Act 2015 for latest information.

Objective 7 Protect and enhance biodiversity associated with the network of the PROW. This objective aims to ensure that the PROW management regime recognises, protects and promotes biodiversity.

Norfolk contains several sites designated under European legislation (eg Natura 2000) for its nature conservation value, some very large, and is among the most important counties in England for nature conservation. These sites are of European significance for conservation value, but may also be vulnerable to change and/or development, either directly or indirectly. Recreation levels in the county continue to increase and the location of and scale of new development will continue to influence the level of visitor use. Increased recreation places increasing demands on the management of the European sites and can cause impacts to the designated interest features. As such strategic planning for residential development needs to ensure these issues are adequately addressed and well signed and maintained public access routes are key to achieving a good balance between public access and protection of sensitive sites. <more>

Progress— Statement of Actions (themes)

The Review of the ROWIP in 2015 published a new Statement of Action under themes and notable achievements include:

Green Infrastructure and Planning

• The Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan or GNIP gave the opportunity to develop ideas for projects funded by the Community Infrastructure Levy or CIL. Marriotts Way has received some funding for upgrading already.

Health and Wellbeing

• The 2 Seas Interreg Programme has funded a project called Staying Active and Independent for Longer or SAIL which is helping older people to remain active and being delivered by Active Norfolk and Norfolk Trails.

Access for All

• The WREN Landfill Trust funded a project to upgrade the Angles Way and create a boardwalk alongside Burgh Castle with wheelchair access.

Community Engagement and Volunteering

Children, Young People and Education

Economic Partnership and Business Engagement

Historic Environment

• The Marriotts Way Heritage Trail project celebrating the railway heritage along the route

Environment, Biodiversity and Conservation

Coastal and Open Access

• Stretches 1 and 2 of the England Coast Path

<u>Cycling</u>

• Pushing Ahead

Horse Riding and Carriage Driving

Mechanically Propelled Vehicles

Progress— Broads Public Rights of Way and Open Access Plan

2.3.6 Broads Public Rights of Way and Open Access Plan

The Broads Authority managed their Broads Rights of Way and Open Access Improvement Plan as part of the Norfolk Rights of Way Improvement Plan. They reviewed it in 2013 and decided to develop a separate Broads Integrated Access Strategy to deliver this element of the Broads Plan by better connecting moorings, nearby villages, facilities and tourist attractions.

The long-term aim is that by working with councils and other stakeholders new paths and moorings can be developed and existing ones improved. Extra signposts will be put up to direct holidaymakers to nearby facilities and the use of mobile app technology will be investigated.

Future user needs

3.1 Future user needs

We now have good evidence about the numbers and types of users on the Norfolk Trails using data collected from counters on the routes and analysed alongside national datasets. Fixed data counters were first installed on the Trails network in 2012. Additional counters have been added periodically to the network to increase our understanding visitor usage to each of the trails. As we have been collecting more and more data we are able to see trends within the data. We are working with an independent consultant, Insight Track, who are analysing our counter and survey data to calculate a more local economic visitor spend to compare with the MENE national average.

MENE data for Norfolk Natural England Monitoring of Engagement with Natural Environment (MENE) estimates spend at £6 per visit to green space and £18 per visit to the coast Total value Norfolk 2016/17 = £12,477,576 Public Health data for Norfolk Health Economic Assessment Tool (HEAT) Total value Norfolk 2016/17 = £170,350,000 Total value of countryside access £182,827,576

User Groups

3.2 User Groups

Natural England has identified the needs of user groups as follows:

Local Walker Needs

- Paths of about 1.4 to 1.8km length to complete a walk of 30 mins duration and meet the Government's target for minimum weekly activity of 150 minutes per week for adults.
- Research in Thames Basin Heaths shows that visitors to natural
 greenspace walk an average of 2.4km.

Recreational Walkers and Runners

- Cover a much greater distance than 2.4km in a typical walk but most require a circular route.
- The best provision enables users to adapt the length of circular routes to their needs. Linear routes that are well connected by public transport provision are also useful.

Needs of horse-riders and cyclists

- Horse riders need routes of about 11 to 12km to complete a typical daily ride of 60 mins duration, which would meet the Government's higher target for 300 minutes of activity per week (source BHS)
- Cyclists need routes of about 7 to 8 km for a 30 minute ride and 15.5 km for an hour's ride, (average speed of 15.5km/h) to

meet the minimum and higher target respectively.

Non-Users or Infrequent Users

- The Active People Survey results have consistently shown that some groups are under-represented in terms of participation. This includes women, disabled people, some black and minority ethnic (BAME) groups, those from lower socio-economic groups and older people.
- MENE results show that those who are less likely to have taken a visit to the natural environment were those of BAME, those aged 65 and over, those with a long term illness or disability and those in DE social grades.

The Norfolk Local Access Forum has been working with user groups and other interests to get their views and suggestions for improvement which are reflected in this section of the plan.

Walkers

3.2.1 Walkers, Walking Walkers

It is important to note that all policy areas involve walking as a basic means of accessing the countryside access network. Walking is therefore encapsulated within the overarching themes and objectives identified throughout this Plan. We are looking at those factors that affect people's ability to access the countryside and to enjoy an optimum experience when they do so; whether they are relating to individuals, families and lifestyles or whether they relate to where people live and the opportunities they have to access and engage in activity on the network.

Walking is the most popular form of recreation associated with the countryside. It is a means of transport in its own right and usually accounts for at least part of journeys made by other means, for example walking to and from the bus, train or car.

Walking has health and recreational benefits as well as functional uses and yet many of us do not walk enough to gain these benefits. Walkers are possibly the most diverse group of users as they include everybody from the very young to the very old and those with a wide range of disabilities. They can also be separated into two distinct groups: those that walk for practical reasons (to get to work, school, shops, etc) and those that walk for pleasure, recreation or health. The latter may be further divided into groups such as dog walkers,

casual walkers and ramblers.

It is important to note that all policy areas involve walking as a basic means of accessing the countryside access network. Walking is for routes that are:

- a range of lengths from short to more challenging
- circular or linear where public or other transport connects the ends of the walk
- safe and free from obstructions
- appropriately surfaced
- easy to follow on-the-ground
- close to home
- shown in publicity material
- equipped with suitable infrastructure
- including seating

Unfortunately, Norfolk County Council has a poor reputation among the public in regard to its treatment of its rights of way. The National Highways and Transport Survey 2016 recorded Norfolk being near to the bottom of the table (25th of 28) for 'Satisfaction with public rights of way' for the third year running.

In 2015, The Ramblers launched its 'Big Pathwatch' app and website to record the overall condition of paths across England and Wales: some 3,244 walkers reported on a wide range of rights of way. In

Walkers

2016, the results of the survey were published (http:// www.ramblers.org.uk/get-involved/pathwatch/the-state-of-ourpaths-report.aspx).

Here in Norfolk, some 1800 kilometres of paths were walked, and reports made covering 3600 square kilometres of town and countryside, and 2316 reports were made of unwelcome features and difficulties. The largest causes of concern were missing signs, either where the right of way left a road (289 reports), or along the route (400 reports). In almost 1 in 10 of these reports, the walker said that this made the route unusable rather than just inconvenient. The next biggest issues were ploughing across the path (137 reports), crops across the path (117 reports) and overhanging or surface vegetation (241 reports). Again, in approximately a third of these cases, the walker said that this made the route unusable rather than just inconvenient.

These results are in accord with surveys conducted by members of The Ramblers during 2012 to 2014, which covered some 1655 paths in 284 parishes, and identified the main problems as being just under one third of paths being deficient in signage where the path left a surfaced road, and about the same number lacking adequate signage along the route of the path. Slightly more than a third presented problems across ploughed land or through crops. Other difficulties, though not insignificant, were reported in little more

than 10% of cases.

Recommendations:

- Continue to ensure that existing public rights of way are monitored regularly, whether directly by NCC staff, by volunteers working in liaison with NCC, or through the systems which enables members of the public to report problems encountered
- Review the online problem reporting system regularly to • ensure it is easy and inviting to use
- Give high priority to signing PRoW •
- Give high priority to keeping PRoW clear of surface vegetation •
- Give high priority to obliging landowners to meet their • responsibilities both in regard to encroaching vegetation along PRoW, and in reinstating paths to the legal requirement after ploughing or cropping
- Continue to look for funding opportunities, whether directly or via Pathmakers, which provide extra benefits to the PRoW network in particular, and other access opportunities where possible
- Continue to support the LAF PRoW Subgroup, and look to extend its use as a means gaining views from users of the PRoW network



Cyclists

3.2.2 Cyclists, Cycling (reviewed by David Hissey)

The public health related reasons for a cycling vision are hugely compelling. Equally persuasive are the potential economic and environmental rewards in pursuing an ambitious cycling vision for the county.

Using cycling as a way of ultimately defining Norfolk as a destination and as a place to live has real potential for marketing the county. Green infrastructure can help to deliver this vision, but it also requires that funding be sought from a wide variety of sources including the EU, central government, charities and district councils. Attracting such funding will be made much more likely if there is a coherent and attractive vision for cycling that is well integrated in policy and has wide political approval. Key to the success of such a vision is building the evidence base for the benefits.

Good practice elsewhere has demonstrated that implementing a range of pro-cycling measures tends to obtain the best results. A considerable obstacle to the take up of regular cycling activity is the perception of safety. Riding a bike is considered to be the least safest way to travel yet UK fatality figures were lower for cyclists in 2015 than for pedestrians (100 vs 409), as were injuries (18745 vs 23664).

Cities including Copenhagen and Amsterdam, where up to 63% of residents use their cycles on a daily basis, achieve the lowest accident figures due to extensive well designed and integrated cycling infrastructure.

Existing mechanisms to improve provision for cycling and to encourage cycling include:

- Travel Planning as identified within Norfolk County Councils • Cycling and Walking Action Plan
- Tax incentives such as the Governments 'Ride to Work' scheme •
- Signed Sustrans routes and cycleways •

Recommendations

- Norfolk Local Access Forum adopts a county wide Norfolk Cycling Strategy prior to the new Countryside Access Improvement Plan being written, and adopts the strategy within the plan when published
- Develop the evidence base for cycling
- Establish a LAF sub-group for cycling
- Consider the best way to achieve integrated information for • outdoor activities in Norfolk to make accessing cycling within the county as easy as possible





Cyclists

Recommendations (continued)

- Work with national cycling associations to bring cycling events such as the Tour of Britain and Tour de France to Norfolk but also work with local communities to link with and promote local events as there is a great deal of participation in cycling amongst residents and visitors to the county
- Support bids for infrastructure improvement grants to increase the cycling off-road network, for example, the further development of disused railways (in appropriate locations) as cycle-ways
- Examine increasing the use of quiet lanes for leisure cycling and for commuting routes linking rural locations to urban centres
- Examine the best way to input into the co- ordinate information on cycling in partnership with districts – there is good potential for working with Norwich, King's Lynn, Thetford and Great Yarmouth and with rail companies - joining up cycle hire and public transport options
- Increase the number of utility (commuting, shopping) and leisure cyclists
- Produce a coherent, integrated Norfolk Network making it multiuser where practicable using RoW and quiet lanes. An example of this is the Norwich Green Loop linking Norwich, Aylsham and Wroxham

- Maintain routes and employ a reporting system for problems • and suggestions
- Aim to have a safe route to every school
- Secure cycle storage a strategic points on bus routes and Park and Ride to encourage integrated multi-modal travel
- Engage with cycling groups to invite feedback, suggestions, • ideas and volunteer input
- Provision of sources of hydration on key routes
- Follow the example of 'Velo Loisir de Luberon' a regional association promoting and supporting the creation of cyclotourism in the Luberon and Verdon Regional Natural Parks http://www.veloloisirprovence.com/en/luberon
- Establish a well-designed, integrated network linking urban areas and rural settlements providing business for small to medium sized companies providing services not only for visitors but locals and commuters alike.
- A carefully well designed network will provide for leisure, commuter and local cyclists linking with places of work, transport hubs, amenities and sights of historical an geographical interest catering for cyclists of differing abilities and disciplines.

Improve existing routes to encourage more use

Equestrians

3.2.3 Equestrians, Horse Riding and Carriage Driving (reviewed by Helen Chester)

Riding is a growth activity according to the Equestrian Access Forum's 2012 report "Making Ways for Horses – Off Road Equestrian Access in England". It states:

"Between 1999 and 2006 the number of riders in Britain increased by 44% to 4.3 million (i.e. people who had ridden at least once in the past 12 months) which works out at 7% of the total population".

The network of bridleways, restricted byways, byways open to all traffic and unclassified country roads (UCRs) across Norfolk is sparse and scattered with a minimal number of joined up circular routes compared to the network of footpaths.

Off-road access is important for equestrians i.e. riders and carriage drivers. On-road riding can be pressurised and dangerous not only on faster, bigger roads but on some smaller country 'rat runs' where the volume and speed of traffic are extremely off-putting for both horse and rider. There are many of these roads across the county and this can create potentially hazardous circumstances for both equestrians and vehicle users due to the unpredictable nature of horses. Many motorised vehicle users do not respect this fact and their driving behaviour around horses demonstrates this.

According to Making Ways for Horses (2012), horse riders and

carriage drivers want a local network of rideable and driveable routes which gives a variety of local rides and links to wider networks. Riders want to get off the roads away from tarmac and traffic.

Riders and carriage drivers want equality of access to the countryside, in line with other groups such as walkers and cyclists, providing safe, accessible off road access. Where practical to do so, we would like to see footpaths upgraded to enable wider access to the countryside.

Riders and carriage drivers need more head room than walkers and we would like this to be taken into consideration when vegetation clearance is undertaken. Most importantly, we want to be seen as an integral user group of the Rights of Way network and would like our voice to be heard and our needs to be taken into consideration in the creation of all new routes.

Equestrians

Recommendations

- Evidence the need for improving equestrian access through consultation and auditing and to use this to seek funding for projects that will allow us to create multi- use trails for this purpose.?
- Develop circular routes using green lanes and permissive access where appropriate.
- Clearly and correctly sign all routes. ?
- Upgrade trails i.e. surfacing and widening, where appropriate to accommodate horse riders/carriage drivers and join up routes/ provide access links.?
- Provide access to trails where surfacing works are not required, for example on grass tracks or in woodlands.
- Ensure equestrian access forms part of all new multi-user trails.
- Provide gates wide enough to allow passage of carriages and ensure all gates are suitable for opening on horseback.
- Provide mounting block facilities next to gates which are not yet suitable for opening on horseback.
- Ensure vegetation/overgrowth is cut back to a height suitable for horse riders to freely pass under.
- Provide sufficient horse box/carriage parking for riders and their horses and include this on the interactive map. ?
- Work with accommodation providers to ?develop horse-friendly

facilities and include these on the interactive map.

- Establish a LAF sub-group for multi-user trails that includes • equestrian representation. ?
- A dedicated commitment from Norfolk County Council to upgrade Public Rights of Way crossing Council owned land to restricted byway status.



Drivers of Motorised Vehicles

<u>3.2.4</u> Drivers of Motorised Vehicles, Mechanically Propelled Vehicles (MPV) (reviewed by Martin Sullivan

Many people may use some form of mechanically propelled vehicle (MPV) to enjoy their chosen way of experiencing the countryside. Walkers. Cyclists and horse riders may use a vehicle for example to get to walks, rides and trails that are too far away to leave a vehicle behind. However, this section is directed toward the specific use of Norfolk's network of un-surfaced roads or green lanes by users of MPV's as a mean of accessing the countryside.

The driving of both vehicles and motorbikes on these routes is NOT off-road driving. Off-road driving means just that and can only take place on private land which is off public highways; but even then, there are rules in place that must be followed. The county's network of un-surfaced roads are public highways* and as such require vehicles to meet the same legal standards as they would on surfaced roads.

Norfolk is a popular tourist destination and this includes users of our network of green lanes. Although Norfolk has a small number of BOATs* it is well provided with many miles of un-surfaced UCRs which make it an ideal destination for family breaks when this can be combined with the coast and its many other tourist attractions. Which all adds to our rural economy. The public has the right to drive motor vehicles on Byways Open to All Traffic (BOATs) as well as on Norfolk's unclassified county roads (UCR's), which are typically shown on Ordnance Survey maps as Other Roads with Public Access.

Recommendations

- Promote Codes of Conduct for Green Lane driving such as the one produced by Land Access Recreational Association (LARA)
- Encourage and support the establishment of properly run 'offroad' days, either at temporary or permanent sites. These provide a challenging environment, and help to discourage bad behaviour on Public Rights of Way (PRoW)and un-surfaced roads.
- Waymarking UCR's (which are, after all, multi-user routes) with black arrows as observed and practiced in other counties; especially where they intersect PRoW.
- Encourage the reporting of any anti-social driving on unsurfaced roads and PRoW using the Police 101 number.
- Recruit members of clubs and associations to help with volunteer work, local promotions and emergency response. Promote their involvement.
- Provide information on the Norfolk Trails and PRoW website/ pages about legal access to Norfolk's countryside.
- Set up a subgroup of the Norfolk Local Access Forum (NLAF) to focus on MPV use.





People with mobility or visual impairments—Access For All

3.2.5 People with Mobility or Visual Impairments Access for All

The network of public rights of way (PRoW) and trails should be, as far as possible, accessible to all types of user including the elderly. those with chronic health conditions including physical and mental disabilities, people with visual impairments and those with young families.

The physical needs of these groups of people in relation to the countryside access network are identified by the existing Rights of Way Improvement Plan (RoWIP) and the action plan pledges to identify and develop accessible routes as well as promoting these with partners. This work has been done to an extent. The Norfolk Health, Heritage and Biodiversity Walks developed between 2008 and 2011 ensured that each town provided some routes accessible to wheelchair and pushchair users. These were easily identifiable in the books which were promoted through a range of community outlets including GP surgeries, community centres, libraries; children's centres, mental health services etc. However, developing these walks highlighted the lack of accessible routes in the more rural locations and an obvious need to address this situation. Other circular walks and long distance trails have been upgraded in places to improve accessibility to more users but there are still gaps in the network and this is a high priority for the new NAIP.

The Deregulation Act (2015) will allow (once the relevant sections are in force) greater flexibility for landowners and users to negotiate the position of claimed and registered public rights of way and alter the processes leading to the registration of unrecorded public rights of way. This could be useful for user groups with particular needs on paths.

The new Countryside Access Improvement Plan (NAIP) must sufficiently explore the opportunities to promote the countryside access network to a wider range of users. For many, finding, accessing and understanding the information in front of them could pose a challenge in the first instance and then there could be issues of confidence, self-esteem and familiarity in going outdoors and venturing into the countryside. We will need to build relationships with carers, groups and organisations that help and support people with chronic conditions so that they are given the best opportunities to discover and enjoy the countryside. Similarly we will need to find the most effective means of promoting the countryside access network to the elderly or those with young families. www.endited.com

People with mobility or visual impairments—Access For All

The LAF includes representation for disabled users of the countryside. This member has given his own time to audit the Boudicca Way, one of Norfolk's long distance trails that runs for approximately 36 miles between Norwich and Diss. His mission has demonstrated the following important points:

- People are willing and able... and can inspire you with what is possible.
- People care and want to be involved.
- Voluntary involvement from members of groups such as this is invaluable to our knowledge and our ability to build a picture of what needs to be done.
- Members of particular target groups will have contacts that can
 help us promote countryside access more effectively.
- Members of particular target groups can advise us on what needs they have.

Opportunities for development

- The physical upgrading of PRoW and trails
- i.e. infrastructure to make them accessible to all types of user.
- Consideration of health and safety needs of disabled users.
- Looking at whether current signage is appropriate for all types of user and if not, what changes need to be made?
- Ensuring our information is accessible, understandable and useable by members of different user groups.

- Working with health and community groups/professionals to ensure that we are effectively reaching our target groups.
- Working with health and community groups/professionals to ensure we are effectively communicating with our target groups.
- Making better links between public transport and countryside access.
- Deeper consideration of the physical and social needs of different types of user e.g. disabled, visually impaired, young families, mental disabilities or illnesses such as dementia, depression and learning difficulties.
- Working with landowners to improve access on farmland.
- Working with local businesses to ensure facilities cater for the needs of multi-users, especially those with physical disabilities.



People with mobility or visual impairments—Access For All

Recommendations for action

- Audit all trails for easy access. Identify where improvements need to be made.
- Works to improve surfaces on PRoW and trails where audit demonstrates the need and potential for access for disabled and other users.
- Install easy access gates in replacement of stiles or existing gates on PRoW or trails where there is reasonable opportunity to do so.
- Ensure that bridges and boardwalks forming part of access routes utilise a ramp at each end to allow use by all users
- e.g. over streams and drains and through wet woodland. Boardwalk must be suitable for use by wheelchairs and pushchairs.
- Improve condition and ensure reinstatement of cross-field paths.
- Based on the Deregulation Act (2015), work with route users and landowners to ensure that paths are adequately positioned to accommodate needs.
- Consultation with user groups assessment of needs
- Consultation with health and community professionals what emotional/social/ physical support is required for certain types of user and how can we accommodate this?

- Ensure information is tailored to need. Make information accessible to particular types of user e.g. Braille, large print, audio.
- Ensure signage can be seen and interpreted effectively by different types of user





Infrequent users

<u>3.2.6</u> Infrequent Users – for example Minority Groups, Lower Socio-Economic Groups, older people and women

The Sports Council Active People Survey results have consistently shown that some groups are under-represented in terms of participation. This includes women, disabled people, some black and minority ethnic (BAME) groups, those from lower socio-economic groups and older people. Recommendations for encouraging non-participants to become more active include:

On-site

- Good signposting
- Good surfaces
- Well maintained structures suitable for all users
- Welcoming signs

Off site

Schemes to get people active:

- Walking for Health programmes
- Volunteer led walks/rides
- Walkers are Welcome
- Pub Walks/Rides
- Events Sponsored Walks/Rides
- Passports/ awards

Landholders

3.3 Findings from Other Sections of the Community

<u>3.3.1</u> Landholders Landownership and Management (new chapter proposed by sub-group – to be prepared)

Who manages our countryside access network?

The Highway Authority (Norfolk County Council)

Norfolk County Council as the Highway Authority (Countryside Access) manages and makes improvements to the public access network within the county. There are approximately 2400 miles of Public Rights of Way in the County, consisting of footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and byways open to all traffic. In addition the County Council manages XXX mile of permissive access in partnership with landowners.

As Highway Authority, Norfolk County Council is responsible for:

- Asserting and protecting the rights of the public to use and enjoy rights of way.
- Maintaining the surfaces of rights of way including the control of natural vegetation, to allow rights to be exercised.
- Assisting farmers and landowners with the maintenance of approved stiles and gates.
- Signposting footpaths, bridleways and byways where they leave

a metalled road.

A right of way is usually maintained at public expense with responsibility for its surface lying with the Highway Authority. Landowners also have a responsibility to ensure that public rights of way crossing their land are accessible and not obstructed.

More information can be found at:

- www.norfolk.gov.uk/Leisure_and_culture/ Public_Rights_of_Way/index.htm
- www.norfolktrails.co.uk
- www.nationaltrail.co.uk/peddars-way-and-norfolk-coast-path

The Norfolk Local Access Forum (NLAF) provides strategic advice to the Highway Authority in terms of local access improvement priorities and projects. Find out more about the Local Access Forum at www.norfolk.gov.uk/nlaf. <more>



Landholders

Broads National Park

The Broads Plan sets out a long term aim for the sensitive management of tourism and recreation within its Executive Area. It identifies possible improvements that should be made to access routes and their connections to key tourist facilities and sustainable transport links.

The Integrated Access Strategy was developed in 2013 to deliver this element of the Broads Plan and the document serves a similar purpose to the NAIP with shared aims and objectives.

The Broads National Park area has its own Local Access Forum that advises the Broads Authority on access functions and who are consulted on (planning ??) applications. The NLAF and the BLAF share regular dialogue ensure that joint goals are achieved.

The North Norfolk Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

- Recreation by both visitors and local residents, including longstanding
- traditional activities for the area, will be managed in a way that provides
- opportunities for all users to experience and enjoy the special qualities of the area

• without conflicting with those qualities or with other people's enjoyment of them.

It Public access routes and areas, both statutory and discretionary, together with non-car forms of transport, will form an integrated
 e network which is widely used by both local residents and visitors. Information on these, and on areas suitable for a variety of recreational activities, will be easily and freely available to the public.

- http://www.norfolkcoastaonb.org.uk/partnership/enjoying/73
- http://www.norfolkcoastaonb.org.uk/partnership/aonbmanagement-plan/377

Wildlife Charities

There are a number of wildlife charities and partnerships which manage and maintain large areas of the Norfolk countryside:

RSPB rspb.org.uk/our-work/our-positions-and-campaigns/positions/

Norfolk Wildlife Trust norfolkwildlifetrust.org.uk which manages County Wildlife Sites (in partnership). Some are publically accessible norfolkwildlifetrust.org.uk/a-living-landscape/county-wildlife-sites

Woodland Trust woodlandtrust.org.uk/publications/



Landholders

National Trust nationaltrust.org.uk/our-cause

District Authorities, Town and Parish Councils responsible for:

- Local Nature Reserves
- Town and Village Greens

Forestry Commission forestry.gov.uk/England; forestry.gov.uk/ thetfordforestpark

Natural England, responsible for:

 National Nature Reserves gov.uk/government/collections/ national-nature-reserves-in-england; gov.uk/government/ publications/norfolks-national-nature-reserves

Ministry of Defence gov.uk/guidance/public-access-to-militaryareas

Landowners/land managers - Private Estates



Young people

<u>3.3.2</u> Young People - education Children and Young People (Reviewed by David Yates)

The Current Situation

In recent years, there has been a significant amount of research showing the value to the physical and emotional development of young people of having contact with the outdoor environment. Research also shows a decline in the amount of time that young people spend outdoors, with more time being spent indoors looking at computer screens.

The 2007 Rights of Way Improvement Plan includes a section on Young People in the 'Assessment of Needs' section. It points out that many young people think that the countryside is not for them.

Surveys of users of Norfolk's trails show that young people are under -represented in comparison to their proportion of the population. This under-representation is particularly pronounced amongst teenagers. For example a survey of users of the Angles Way in 2013 showed that only 13% of trail users are under 18 years of age whereas 24% of the total population fall into this age category.

While the overall picture suggests that there is still much to do to encourage more young people to explore the Norfolk countryside on

its paths and trails, there have been some successful initiatives:-

- The Duke of Edinburgh Award includes an expedition, which involves young people in back-packing on a long-distance route.
- Uniformed groups such as Beavers, Cubs, Scouts, Rainbows, Brownies, Guides and Explorers participate in activities that involve walking on our footpaths including trails.
- Geocaching (a high-tech treasure hunting game involving handheld GPS devices or smartphones) has proved to be very popular with families and a great way to encourage young people to go out walking with their parents. A pilot project introducing school students to geocaching on the Nar Valley Way and Weavers' Way also proved to be very successful.
 - In May and June 2014, a 'Beat the Streets' initiative was run in parts of Norwich as part of a government-funded project organised by Norwich City Council and run by Living Streets. It involved encouraging young people to compete for their school or youth club by recording how far they walked by swiping a smart-card against recording posts that had been put up across the area on a temporary basis. Prizes were given to the teams who, over the period of the initiative, had walked furthest.
- Leaflets have been produced with games and challenges for young people to encourage them to walk in the countryside. Examples of this include the 'Treasures of the Gaywood Valley' pack of leaflets and an 'eye-spy' leaflet produced for Marriott's <more>



59

Young people

Way.

Education is not just for young people, and there have been initiatives to inform older people about the natural and cultural history of Norfolk's paths and trails:

• The University of East Anglia had a 'Pathways to History' project, which worked with volunteers to find out more about the history of Norfolk's footpaths and green lanes.

Opportunities for development

- More young people could be encouraged to access Norfolk's paths and trails by tapping into their spirit of adventure and desire to play games and collect things.
- Working more closely with education providers could result in elements of the curriculum being delivered through visits to Norfolk's paths and trails. There are particular opportunities for teaching history and ecology in an exciting and memorable way where paths and trails link to heritage sites.
- Working more closely with uniformed groups with an interest in outdoor exploration.



60

Young people

Recommendations for action

- Create a Norfolk County Council geocache trail on every Norfolk trail, to be maintained by volunteers.
- Set up and promote Munzee Trails in King's Lynn and Great Yarmouth.
- Produce curriculum-linked education materials on the heritage and biodiversity of Norfolk's paths and trails
- Promote countryside access using the social media that young people use e.g. Facebook, Twitter, Instagram etc, and be prepared to add new methods of communication as social media evolves.
- Encourage more young people to get directly involved in helping to manage local paths and trails through creating more links to schools and youth clubs. This might range from making bird boxes to use on the identified route, to a school taking on the inspection of paths or sections of a trail under the Trails or potential PRoW Rangers volunteer scheme.
- Organise school visits to paths and trails, linking a trails-based activity (such as geocaching) with another educational activity such as a visit to a heritage site or nature reserve.

- Produce interpretation materials that are more tailored to young people in their content and method of delivery. For example, mobile phone apps with digital games that are played on a trail could be used or the use of stampers to encourage young path/trail users to try to collect the full set of stamps.
- Work with local 'Friends of the Trails' or 'Parish Paths' groups to organise events that will encourage young people to walk more, such as Easter egg hunts and Halloween or ghost walks.
- Provide information on the Norfolk Trails/ PRoW websites about play equipment along or close to the routes.
- Pilot the use of podcasts to provide downloadable audio information about what can be seen while using Norfolk's paths and trails. This may involve experts talking about heritage of the area or local people telling about their memories of the locality. Encourage 'Friends' groups or Walkers are Welcome groups to organise guided walks programmes.

Improving health and wellbeing

3.3.3 Health, Mental Illness Health and Wellbeing

Caring for Our Health and Wellbeing is a core theme embedded within the County Council's "Caring for Our County" priorities. Healthy and well communities will be stronger, more vibrant and aspirational with a greater sense of pride and value in themselves and in their surrounding environment. Feeling healthy and well in mind and body is more likely to lead to individuals and population groups who feel motivated, empowered and inspired to take a positive role within their community. This is something we can help address through improvement and promotion of countryside access.

The current situation

The new Norfolk Access Improvement Plan (NAIP) will consider how countryside access contributes to public health outcomes and priority areas for action. The Department of Health Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-2016 includes "Utilisation of green space for exercise and health reasons" as an indicator for tackling the wider determinants of public health. In addition, the health improvement category (helping people to live healthy lifestyles, make healthy choices and reduce health inequalities) includes:

- The proportion of physically active and inactive adults.
- Excess weight in 4-5 year olds.

- Excess weight in 10-11 year olds.
- Excess weight in adults.

The current RoWIP looks at each type of existing user in turn and discusses their needs. Commonly, these needs tend to be physical or practical in nature i.e. needs identified once a person is using the network. That is important in itself but equally as important are those people who could become users of the network given the right information and support. Health behaviour is a big factor that we must consider when designing projects, working in partnership with health professionals and engaging our target users. The design of our communication materials, portals and promotional campaigns will also be important for getting the right messages to the right people. The current RoWIP does recognise the need for better promotion and clearer information on access opportunities but does not explore what exactly needs to be done.

Current policy and guidance

"Improving the environment in which people live can make healthy lifestyles easier. When the immediate environment is unattractive, it is difficult to make physical activity and contact with nature part of everyday life.

Unsafe or hostile urban areas that lack green spaces and are dominated by traffic can discourage activity. Lower socioeconomic

Improving health and wellbeing

groups and those living in the more deprived areas experience the greatest environmental burdens". Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2010)

The Choosing Health White Paper (2004) referred to in the current plan has been built upon by more recent strategies such as:

- Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health in England (2010) and its updated document in 2011 about moving forward.
- Start Active, Stay Active, 2011.
- A Public Health Outcomes Framework for England 2013-2016.

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) has also published a range of guidance around physical activity, planning and the environment. You can view this at www.nice.org.uk.

Access to good quality green space and green infrastructure is recognised as highly important throughout the policy and guidance and there is substantial evidence to suggest that access to green spaces and countryside has a positive effect on physical and mental health.

Driving forward public health

With the support and guidance of Public Health England (an executive agency of the Department of Health) local authorities now have a responsibility for driving forward the public health agenda and have set up statutory health and wellbeing boards to oversee the development of joint strategic needs assessments (JSNA) and joint health and wellbeing strategies. They will adopt an integrated strategic approach to commissioning services and will ensure a local community-wide approach to improving and protecting the public's health and wellbeing.

Integration and partnership working are key mechanisms for ensuring countryside access can contribute to the priorities set out by Norfolk's Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Opportunities for development

In consultation with Norfolk County Council's Public Health team, the following have been identified as areas of joint work:

- Physical Activity development and strategy.
- Feeding in to:
- ? Director of Public Health Report
- ? Public Health Action Plan
- ? Community Health and Locality Development Plan



Improving health and wellbeing

- ? Physical Activity Health Needs Assessment
- Community-led health initiatives in built up and rural areas.
- Public Health and Transport/Travel planning working together
- ? Tackle social exclusion by encouraging and enabling links with public/community transport and corridor communities.
- Public Health and Trails projects.
- Public Health and future work with the Local Access Forum ensuring health forms a key strand of their action plan.
- Public Health and Physical Activity work (health walks etc).
- Working with Norwich City Council on a new cycle route and walking revenue funded project.
- Coastal access path.

Recommendations for action

- Promote public rights of way (PRoW) and trails as a valuable resource to be recognised and utilised by health professionals in health improvement.
- Work closely in partnership with stakeholders to maximise the health and social benefits to individuals using the countryside access network.
- Work with the Norfolk Biodiversity Information Service (NBIS) and Norfolk Wildlife Trust to engage people actively in nature.
- Engage local volunteers in path monitoring and maintenance, biodiversity recording, surveying and conservation or other schemes through community champion networks and/or

ambassadors for trails and PRoW.

- Engage those typically hard-to-reach inactive populations experiencing health issues such as overweight and obesity and their co-morbidities such as high blood pressure and type II diabetes.
- Engage those who are experiencing mental health issues ranging from mild depression to dementia in activity outdoors.
- Develop and improve information for hard- to-reach groups.
- Compile data on use of the trails network for the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).
- Map health outcomes over access opportunities to trails and associated walks across the county.
- Joint appointment of a health and transport post.
- Joint appointment of health project co- ordinator coordinator/ delivery posts.
- New objective in the NAIP around empowering local people to access local PRoW and trails to improve and sustain healthy behaviours.
- Marketing around engaging sedentary/ low active people



Business sector opportunities

3.3.4 (Reviewed by Pat Holtom)

The current situation

The new Countryside Access Improvement Plan (NAIP) must include information about the connections between countryside access and businesses. There are a number of important links.

- Tourism is one of the key sectors of Norfolk's economy a recent survey calculated that the value of day-visitors and longer-staying tourists was £2.8 billion in 2012.
- Countryside access is an important part of the county's tourism • offer. In terms of numbers of visitors recorded, two Norfolk trails were in the top ten Norfolk tourist attractions in 2013.
- Many rural businesses benefit greatly from the custom of the • people who use Norfolk's footpaths and trails. These include pubs, cafes, holiday accommodation providers, shops, and cycle • hire providers.
- Norfolk's fine landscapes and the opportunities to enjoy them provided by its countryside access provision help to provide the guality of life that can encourage some businesses to relocate here - they know that in Norfolk they will be able to attract and retain high-calibre staff.

Businesses Economic Partnership and Business Engagement In recent years, some measures have been taken to help businesses take advantage of the opportunities provided by Norfolk's paths and trails.

- Relevant businesses can sign up to be featured on the Norfolk • Trails website's interactive map
- Fingerposts on some trails let users know where there is a • relevant business close to the trail but not visible from it.
- Training on how to make the best use of marketing tools such • as social media has been offered to businesses within trail corridors through externally-funded projects.
- Business networks such as 'Walkers are Welcome' have been • set up in some towns to help to market them as places to visit in order to go for a walk in the countryside.

Opportunities for development

- Inform more local businesses about the commercial opportunities offered by people using Norfolk's paths and trails, and provide materials and training to help them to benefit from these.
- Work with businesses to develop and promote new trails and visitor offers.
- Explore ways in which businesses can financially support the • maintenance of Norfolk's paths and trails.

Business sector opportunities

- Develop more business networks to help to promote countryside access in their area.
- Market Norfolk as a place to come to on holiday in order to explore its network of paths and trails.
- Work with the British Horse Society (BHS) to promote Norfolk as a riding holiday destination.

Recommendations for action

- Work with partners to set up a web-based 'business toolkit' to provide information to rural businesses and start-ups about how best to market themselves in order to take advantage of the opportunities generated by their local paths and trails.
- Organise training sessions for rural businesses to show them how to use new media to promote themselves better as places to come to in order to enjoy the Norfolk countryside.
- Work with 'Visit Norfolk' and other organisations such as the BHS to promote Norfolk as a place to come to for great outdoor experiences.
- Develop and promote themed trails linked to local businesses.
 Examples of this would be a 'sea-food trail' on the coast, or an art and craft trail linking local studios, galleries and shops.
- Encourage every town in Norfolk where there is any interest in the scheme to become accredited 'Walkers are Welcome' communities.

- Set up 'Friends' groups for all of the Norfolk trails and encourage local businesses to get involved.
- Improve the way in which businesses sign up to get featured on the Norfolk Trails website's interactive map in order to encourage more businesses to do so.
- Set up a 'visitor payback' scheme, through which businesses that benefit financially from countryside access contribute to the maintenance of the paths and trails by adding a small donation to the cost of an item or service such as a cup of tea or the hire of a cycle.
 - Explore sponsorship opportunities, through which businesses contribute to the cost of the maintenance or improvement of a path or trail in return for the favourable publicity that comes with the association.





Improving uptake of Active Travel

3.3.5 Active Travel

Active travel means making journeys by physically active means, like walking or cycling. These are usually short journeys, like walking to the shops, walking the kids to school, cycling to work, or cycling to the station to catch a commuter train.

Walking and cycling are good for our physical and mental health. Switching more journeys to active travel will improve health, quality of life and the environment, and local productivity, while at the same time reducing costs to the public purse. These are substantial `winwins' that benefit individual people and the community as a whole.

Some key messages include:

- physical inactivity directly contributes to 1 in 6 deaths in the UK and costs £7.4 billion a year to business and wider society
- the growth in road transport has been a major factor in reducing levels of physical activity and increasing obesity
- building walking or cycling into daily routines are the most effective ways to increase physical activity
- short car trips (under 5 miles) are a prime area for switching to active travel and to public transport
- health-promoting transport systems are pro-business and support economic prosperity. They enable optimal travel to

work with less congestion, collisions, pollution, and they support a healthier workforce.

The national Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy (a requirement from the Infrastructure Act 2005) sets out actions to meet the government's ambition for walking and cycling to become the norm for short journeys, or as part of a longer journey, with places that are designed first and foremost for people on foot or bicycle. It provides local areas with a range of tools and support to develop and promote their own cycling and walking plans.

Norfolk County Council has its own Walking and Cycling Action Plan and is delivering it through the Pushing Ahead project.

Linking communities using the planning system

<u>3.3.6</u> <u>Planners – growth Infrastructure and Planning (Reviewed</u> by Ken Hawkins, Paul Rudkin, David White/Zoe Tebbutt)</u>

The current situation

The 2007 Rights of Way Improvement Plan includes a section on green infrastructure and an appendix in which the term is defined. At that time, Norwich, Thetford and King's Lynn had been identified as 'Growth Points' where significant amounts of new housing were to be located and a Green Infrastructure Strategy drawn up for the Greater Norwich area. Since then, a number of new developments have taken place to further green infrastructure planning in Norfolk:

- A Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan was produced for the Greater Norwich Development Partnership (GNDP) area in 2009. This developed the green corridors of the GNDP Green Infrastructure Strategy into a series of green infrastructure priority areas that could be used in the prioritisation of potential projects.
- The Joint Core Strategy for the Greater Norwich area was adopted in 2011. This document provides a strategy for development control planning in the Norwich City Council, Broadland District Council and South Norfolk Council areas.
- A Green Infrastructure Plan for Thetford was produced in 2007.
- A Green Infrastructure Plan for King's Lynn was produced in

2010.

- Dereham Town Council produced its own Green Infrastructure Plan in 2008.
- Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a locally set tariff charged to developers by local authorities and is used to fund new infrastructure such as roads, schools and green infrastructure related to the new developments.
 - Parish and town councils have been given the power to draw up their own Neighbourhood Plans if there is sufficient local support. If approved by the government and accepted by local voters, this plan must be taken into account when planning decisions are reached. It also results in the parish or town council responsible for producing it receiving a significantly higher proportion of any Community Infrastructure Levy money collected by the planning authority than they otherwise would. A number of parish and town councils are currently drawing up Neighbourhood Plans or are considering doing so.
 - The CROW Act (2000) sets out the requirement for all historical public rights of way to be officially recorded on the definitive map by 1st January 2026. This relates to those routes that existed pre- 1949.

Linking communities using the planning system

Opportunities for development

Since green infrastructure is all about creating multifunctional linked green spaces, there are great opportunities to create new nonvehicular access routes linking development areas to the countryside. The green infrastructure documents listed above include suggested projects that would contribute to the countryside access network.

The sort of projects that could be delivered through either inclusion within the masterplans for new development areas or by funding from developers include:

- New circular routes linking development areas to the trails and PROW network.
- New trails (or parts of trails) where a strategic need to extend the network has been identified and the route goes through or close to a development area.
- Improving the quality of existing trails or paths which will be used more because of the increased local population.
- Maintaining new or existing trails or paths for an agreed period through a Section 106 agreement or similar legal agreement.
- Using historical rights of way that are officially recorded before 2026 as part of the development of local circular multi-use routes.

Linking communities using the planning system

Recommendations for action

To take advantage of the opportunities to improve countryside access offered by green infrastructure planning, the following actions should be considered:

- Engage with planning officers and communities drawing up Neighbourhood Plans to ensure that opportunities for improving the countryside access network are included in their plans.
- Try to get projects that will enhance the countryside access network included in the Local Infrastructure Project Proposals (LIPP) documents that are drawn up by planning authorities and which are used to allocate funding.
- Develop a new multi-use trail between Wroxham and Broadland Business Park (and from there to the Norwich Cycleway Pink Route and potentially to the Wherryman's Way) through the Broadland Growth Triangle.
- Bring the Kett's Country Trail up to National Trail standard, obtain funding for on-going maintenance and add it to the Norfolk Trails network.
- Investigate opportunities for funding the Tas Valley Way in order to add it to the Norfolk Trails network.
- Investigate the possibilities of creating a cycle route between Norwich, Hethersett and Wymondham, with a link to Hethel via Ketteringham and to the Norwich Business Park.

- Create circular walks off Boudicca Way that will link the trail with Long Stratton and the development sites to the east of the existing built-up area.
- Investigate the possibility of creating a cycle-able route along the disused railway line between King's Lynn and Hunstanton (as suggested in the King's Lynn Green Infrastructure Strategy).
- Create a series of circular walks off the Fen Rivers Way at Downham Market (as suggested in the King's Lynn Green Infrastructure Strategy).
- Investigate opportunities to create a walking and cycling route between King's Lynn and Bawsey Country Park as the first stage of a possible trail between King's Lynn and Wells-next-the-Sea via Fakenham.
- Create a new bridge to link Norwich to Whitlingham Country Park more directly.
- Encourage users of historical routes, particularly those that date pre-1949, to apply for a right of way status by the January 2026 deadline.



Enhancing biodiversity

<u>3.3.7</u> Environment organisations, sustainability, Biodiversity and Conservation

The Current Situation

The 2007-17 Rights of Way Improvement Plan includes as an objective the enhancement of biodiversity through the management of public rights of way (PRoW). A set of measures were included in the Action Plan in order to work towards this aim. At the time it was written, the system for protecting and enhancing biodiversity was through a combination of site designation (i.e. Sites of Special Scientific Interest), legal protection for particular species (such as bats and badgers) and Biodiversity Action Plans drawn up by local Biodiversity Partnerships for those species and habitats felt to be most under threat. All three of these mechanisms still exist, but there have been a number of significant new developments as well:

- 'Making Space for Nature' was published in September 2010. This was an independent report by a group of experts chaired by Professor Sir John Lawton. It argued that existing measures for protecting biodiversity had not been effective, and that landscape-scale measures were needed.
- A Natural Environment White Paper 'The Natural Choice' was published in June 2011. In this, the government accepted the arguments put forward in the Lawton report and suggested

various mechanisms for delivering landscape-scale measures.

- 'Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England's Wildlife and Ecosystem Services' was published in Summer 2011. This document outlines the government's ambition to halt the loss of England's biodiversity by 2020.
- Local Nature Partnerships are one of the mechanisms for delivering landscape-scale changes described in the Natural Environment White Paper. 'Wild Anglia' is the Local Nature Partnership covering Norfolk and Suffolk. It is closely aligned with the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership, which covers the same area.
- The concept of 'ecosystem services' has become more widespread. This gives a financial value to ecosystems by considering how much it would cost to provide the same service through other means. A National Ecosystem Assessment was published in June 2011, which provides values for ecosystem services.
- The Stern Report on the Economics of Climate Change was published in October 2006 (just before the Rights of Way Improvement Plan). This report, along with the fourth assessment report of the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change of 2007, increased public awareness of the likely consequences of climate change if CO2 emissions continue to rise. Isolated populations are more vulnerable to the effects than those that can move along corridors to find suitable <more>

Enhancing biodiversity

climatic conditions.

• Ash die-back (*Chalara fraxinea*) is a fungal disease that kills ash trees. It was first reported in Britain in February 2012, and by October that year had reached woodlands in Norfolk. The effects of the disease on Norfolk's woodlands are still not certain, but it seems possible that a high proportion of the county's ash trees might be lost in the next decade.

Opportunities for development

- Countryside access can provide 'green corridors' that can increase the connectivity between otherwise isolated habitats and contribute to an increased resilience of wildlife populations in accordance with the 'Biodiversity 2020' strategy. This is particularly true of long- distance trails such as Marriott's Way, which is already a County Wildlife Site.
- Footpaths and trails are a place where the public has a chance to encounter Norfolk's wildlife and flora. There are opportunities to better interpret the biodiversity of the routes to users.
- Where sections of trails are owned by public authorities, there is a particular opportunity to manage the trail corridor in order to maximise the value for biodiversity.
- Areas such as Open Access land can provide green space hubs for both wildlife and people. The use and promotion of open access land must be considered and clarified in terms of

responsibility.



Improving take up of volunteering

<u>3.3.8</u> <u>Community Engagement and Volunteering (Reviewed by</u> <u>Ken Hawkins)</u>

The current situation

For many years, community groups have been actively involved in the management and promotion of countryside access. Walking, cycling and horse riding are activities that large numbers of people participate in, and many of those who do are willing to help to promote and look after their local routes.

Examples of such community involvement that are going on at the moment include:

- Groups that organise programmes of walks, such as the Norfolk Ramblers. They offer a chance to go for a walk in the countryside with a group of like-minded walking enthusiasts. Norfolk has nine branches of the Ramblers, covering the whole county.
- The Campaign for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) Norfolk is working with the Ramblers and the Open Spaces Society to bring together a network of Parish Footpath Wardens to share experiences and access advice and news. The Footpath Wardens monitor the condition of local paths and report their findings to their parish council, who can then help resolve any issues.

 Some parish councils have taken responsibility for the management and maintenance of public rights of way (PRoW) in their parishes, ensuring that some of the footpaths and bridleways that the County Council has stopped cutting on a pro -active basis due to budget cuts are maintained to a higher standard than the County Council is able to currently achieve.

Volunteers are involved in the management of a number of Norfolk's trails, such as the Norfolk Coast Path and the Weavers' Way. They inspect the section of path that has been allocated to them, report any problems that they find and, in some cases, carry out maintenance work themselves.

- A number of parish councils have instigated the creation of footpaths within their parishes. An example of this is the new Horseshoe Way path in Tasburgh an old route which has been recreated by the parish council through the purchase of the land from a parishioner.
- Research into the history of footpaths and bridleways has been carried out by volunteers, such as those involved in the CPRE Norfolk's 'Exploring our Footpaths' Research Project. This involved people from the four parishes of Thompson, Beachamwell, Horning and Reepham researching the history of footpaths in their area.
- Sustrans have a team of volunteer Rangers who help to manage the National Cycle route network, part of which goes through <more>
Improving take up of volunteering

Norfolk. As well as inspecting the routes to report any problems, volunteer Rangers also carry out maintenance work such as improving signs, removing graffiti, picking litter and cutting back vegetation where needed.

• An interactive map has been developed which allows members of the public to report any problems they have encountered by recording them directly onto a map on the Norfolk County Council website.

Opportunities for development

More parishes could be actively involved in the management of countryside access, with an increase in the network of parish footpath wardens and local agreements over the management of some PRoW through which parish councils carry out the management with the support of the Highway Authority.

- More parish councils could use their local connections to negotiate the creation of their own permissive paths to create local countryside access links.
- More parish councils and local community- based organisations could create their own circular walks that can be promoted to local people and visitors.
- All Norfolk's trails could have volunteer Trail Rangers who inspect them and help to maintain them. The same concept could be applied to PRoW networks in parishes.

- All Norfolk's trails and networks of parish PRoWs could have one or more 'Friends' groups. These groups would help to promote the Trail/PRoW network locally by organising events on them and raise money to fund improvements (like new seats or signage). Some might also have a more active role in managing a section of a trail or specific parish paths.
- Stakeholder groups could be set up for people with a particular interest in an aspect of countryside access, such as MPVs, horse riding and carriage driving, improved access for people with disabilities and cyclists.
- Further develop Norfolk as a walking and cycling-friendly county for example by continuing to engage towns in the Walkers are Welcome initiative. Steer from the recently appointed Walking and Cycling Champion and Members-led working group will help to prioritise activities.
- Further develop Norfolk as an all-user friendly county with steer from the LAF multi-user subgroup and recently appointed cycling and walking champion and Members-led working group. Activities could involve encouraging more market towns to engage in the "Walkers are Welcome" accreditation initiative and holding community consultations to establish need for improved access and access links in specific areas.

<more>

Improving take up of volunteering

Recommendations for action

- Continue the programme of recruiting local volunteers to form a team of 'Trail Rangers' for all Norfolk's trails. The next Trail to be focused on should be Marriott's Way.
- Consider using the same concept for PRoW e.g. PRoW rangers.
- Provide training for people who have volunteered to be Trail Rangers, to enable them to carry out the role in a safe and effective way.
- Potentially develop this training for volunteers on PRoW.
- Facilitate the setting up of 'Friends' groups for the Paston Way and Weavers' Way, with others to follow.
- Set up a 'Trails User Group' for people with an interest in MPVs, with other special interest user groups to follow such as the Ramblers, Open Spaces Society etc.
- Further develop Norfolk as an all-user friendly county with steer from the LAF multi-user subgroup and recently appointed cycling and walking champion and Members-led working group.

Improving access to the historic environment

<u>3.3.9</u> Historic Environment (Reviewed by Paul Rudkin and David Gurney)

Current situation

The new Countryside Access Improvement Plan (NAIP) must include a specific section on Historic Environment, which is significant given the clear importance of Norfolk's heritage. Accessing heritage in the countryside is a key element of many peoples' outdoor experience. Paston Way is a good example of a managed trail that has heritage as its focus, with fourteen churches integral to the experience and the 'Paston Letters' as a focus for exploring the area's medieval history. Equally there is Boudicca Way's eponymous association with the queen of the Iron Age Iceni Tribe and with the Roman development of Norfolk.

Opportunities for development

Widening the information available to people accessing the countryside about the surrounding landscape and its heritage is an important aim for extending the appeal of our offer for both local users and visitors to Norfolk. Providing this information can be done through a variety of means, from producing books and leaflets, to developing the information available on the internet. Another potential way to increase access to Norfolk's historic environment is to produce themed walks and cycle rides. Many of Norfolk's promoted routes lend themselves well to this approach.

Recommendations for action

- Heritage top 50 working with the Historic Environment Section to develop information on the top 50 heritage sites associated with Norfolk's paths and trails.
- Pilgrim routes a linking theme examining Norfolk's pilgrim heritage and the sites
- that were important stops on the way to Walsingham.
- Ancient Ways working in conjunction with UEA to examine some of the oldest routes in the county.
- Ancient landscapes provide more contextual information on the changes that some of our special landscapes have gone through.
- Industrial Norfolk drawing out themes relating particularly to the former railways that once linked much of the county.

Opportunities through new coastal and open access

3.3.10 Coastal and Open Access (Reviewed by Russell Wilson)

Current situation

Norfolk currently has significant coastal access on the North Norfolk Coast with the Peddars Way and Norfolk Coast Path National Trail forming part of the Trails portfolio.

The new England Coast Path and its associated spreading room has been established by Natural England. Stretch one of the Coast Path has now been handed over to Norfolk County Council for management.

There are also significant areas of open access land across the county. Areas of open access woodland are managed by the Forestry Commission while other areas with open access rights fall within the remit of Natural England. Areas with such rights allow people access on foot.

The Commons Act (2006) Part 1 picks up on the possibility that mistakes may have been made in the initial registration process for common land and town village greens. This means that local users may submit applications to either add to or deregister such areas of land.

Opportunities for development

- Natural England is tasked with creating the England Coast Path and is currently creating new coastal access in Norfolk as part of this.
- Stretch 1 of coastal access runs from Weybourne through to Sea Palling; stretch 2 runs from Sea Palling to Hopton on sea.
- Stretch 3 from Weybourne to Hunstanton is looking again at the current Norfolk Coast Access to see if there is an opportunity to re-route the path so it retains the proximity to the coast only making changes as and where required.
- Stretch 4 is likely to be Hunstanton through to Sutton Bridge creating a coastal access opportunity right around the Norfolk coastline.
- Norfolk Trails is seeking to create and promote circular walks from the work Natural England are engaged in when creating the new coastal access route.
- Strengthen communication between open access land management and the Local Access Forum, ensuring that advice is sought and given as appropriate.
- Areas such as open access land can provide green space hubs for both wildlife and people. The use and promotion of open access land must be considered and clarified in terms of responsibility.

<more>



Opportunities through new coastal and open access

Recommendations for action

- Create circular walks from the Norfolk Coast Path inland linking business, heritage and cultural sites to the footpath.
- Develop other access opportunities including cycling and horse riding.
- Set up a sub-group of the Local Access Forum including other key stakeholders to address the use and promotion of open access land and link more closely with managers of open access land.
- Advise users of the possibility of applications being made for additions to and deregistration of common land and town and village greens where it can be shown that mistakes were made at the initial registration stage

Access to water bodies

<u>3.3.11</u> Access to water bodies (new chapter proposed by sub-group & prepared by Geoff Doggett)

Future user needs—conclusion

3.4 Conclusion

The future Deregulation Act 2015 aimed at streamlining the applications procedures for new rights of way under which landowners will have a greater say in the registration of rights on their land.

Gaps in the network

4. Assessment of extent to which local rights of way meet present or likely future needs/ provide opportunities for doing so

4.1 Spatial data - network showing areas not well served

Gaps in the network

4.2 Spatial data - growth showing areas with new needs

About the NAIP | Progress | Future needs | Gaps | Network condition | Crossover | Actions 2018-2028 | Appendices

Network condition

5. **Evaluation of the condition of the network** – completeness and accuracy of Definitive Map and Statement, management of applications for changes to PROW and promotion of outdoor recreation



Crossover between the NAIP and other plans

6. Overview of potential crossover between ROWIP and other 6.3 Local Policies and Strategies (County and District) Plans, Priorities and Partnerships

6.1 National Policies and Strategies

- Department Health Childhood Obesity Plan
- Improving the co-ordination of quality sport and physical activity programmes for schools.
- The Sport England Strategy 'Towards an Active Nation' (2016) has already set out a major new investment of £40m into projects which offer new opportunities for families and children to get active and play sport together.
- Walking or cycling to school provides a healthy way to start the day. The government has committed to producing a Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy.

6.2 Regional Policies and Strategies

- New Anglia (Local Enterprise Partnership) Strategic Economic Plan
- Culture and Tourism Sector
- Green Economy Pathfinder

- The NCC Transport Asset Management Plan is the strategic approach that identifies the optimal allocation of resources for the management, operation, preservation and enhancement of the highway infrastructure to meet the needs of current and future users
- NCC Local Transport Plan. Norfolk's third Local Transport Plan 2011-26 has been adopted. It describes the county's strategy and policy framework for delivery up to 2026. It will be used as a guide for transport investment and considered by other agencies when determining planning or delivery decisions. The plan reflects the views of local people and stakeholders, identifying 6 priorities
 - Maintaining and managing the highway network Delivering sustainable growth Enhancing strategic connections Reducing emissions Improving road safety Improving accessibility
- NCC Green Infrastructure
- NCC Active Travel Plans
 Cycling and Walking Action Plan
 AtoBetter individual Travel Plans
- Broads Authority Plan

Appendices

Crossover between the NAIP and other plans

- Health/ Well-Being Plan
- Active Norfolk Active Norfolk 2016-2021 Strategy

6.3.8 District Councils Local Development Plans

- Broadland •
- Breckland Emerging Local Plan 2017 •
- Great Yarmouth Local Plan and Core Strategy 2013 2030 •
- Kings Lynn and West Norfolk
- North Norfolk
- Norwich
- South Norfolk

6.3.10 AONB – AONB Management Plan

- 6.3.11 Environment Natural and Historic?
- 6.3. 12 NE Coastal Access, National Trails and England Coast Path
- 6.3.13 Norfolk Rural Development Strategy 2013 2020
- 6.3.14 New Anglia Strategic Economic Plan 2014-2027

6.3.16 Norfolk Road Casualty Reduction Board Delivery Plan Elements of Casualty Reduction Strategy for Vulnerable Road Users

aimed at children, young people and adult cyclists. Report shows increases in the number of Killed and Seriously Injured from the pedal cyclist and older driver casualty groups have contributed to this rising trend.

Actions 2018-2028

7. Statement of Actions

7.1 Statement of Action 2018 – 2028 Long term strategic actions

7.1.1 Key aims and priorities arising from Assessment

The previous ROWIP 2007-2017 underwent a very detailed consultation with a wide range of partners and users but the Statement of Actions was very aspirational and limited in demonstration of achievements due to a lack of clear targets, good management information and monitoring procedures. The process now recommended by DEFRA is to develop a 10 year Statement of Actions and to have annual or bi-annual delivery plans with clear achievable targets to support it. The management of PROW in Norfolk has also undergone a number of changes which need to be reflected in any new plan.

Strategic commitments

7.1.2 Long term strategic commitments

We aim to create an easy to use, safe, healthy and sustainable way to enjoy the Norfolk coast and countryside.

We will

- Further develop Norfolk as an all-user friendly county with steer
 from the Norfolk Local Access Forum and recently appointed
 Cycling and Walking Champion and Members-led Cycling and
 Walking Working Group.
- Audit routes (PRoW and Trails) to assess current provision for wider access for wheel/power chairs and buggies or for users with visual impairments or mental health difficulties such as dementia
- Develop multiuser routes for walkers, cyclists, equestrians and motorised vehicles where resources and permissions allow.
- Encompass a sustainable transport ethos, using Active Travel modes and developing good links to public transport
- Work with colleagues to develop safe routes for users

(Care for our roads and environment)

i) A well-managed Access Network. We will develop a wellsigned, maintained and accessible network of routes – both public rights of way and promoted trails, which provide access to coastal, rural and urban areas with good systems and standards for

- managing and improving signage
- managing path surfaces/ and vegetation
- accessible routes without barriers
- enforcement of regulations by landowners
- reporting issues for volunteers and users
- maintaining the definitive map for Norfolk
- recording and managing changes to the definitive map
- monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of the above

ii) A well connected Access Network We will develop an integrated green infrastructure network that provides opportunities for all users; improve connectivity and accessibility of the network and develop opportunities through

- o neighbourhood plans
- o the planning process and growth agenda
- o Coastal Access
- o funding applications for route improvements
- o applications to reinstate historical routes by 2026
- o connectivity to public transport

iii) A well-protected Natural and Historic Environment – We will provide access to and understanding about protection of the natural and historic environment. Develop opportunities through

- o recreational impact assessments
- o biodiversity plans

23456789101112



Strategic commitments

- o historic environment plans
- o AONB and Broads Authority Plans
- o educational projects
- o Promotion of sustainable transport options

iv) A well promoted Access Network – We will communicate Norfolk's outstanding countryside and the benefits of outdoor activity for all users; and develop a communications plan identifying key user groups (walkers, cyclists, horse-riders, motorised vehicle users, disabled users and new users) with key communication channels including

- o Website
- o Print
- o Press/ media
- o Social media
- o Photo/ video library
- o Accessible versions
- o Smartphone apps with games and new technology

v) A well informed Access Network We will keep up to date webbased definitive and interactive maps and other access network information making best use of new technologies including

o PROW interactive map showing where there is public access

o Norfolk Trails interactive map showing promoted routes – long distance trails and circular routes

- o Definitive Map of PROW showing the legal map base systems
- o PDF downloads of short and circular walks
- o 360° views of Norfolk Trails using Googletrekker technology
- o Norfolk Insight/ Active Norfolk Active Map
- o Natural England MENE

(Care for our community)

vi) A community Access Network We will increase the involvement of communities in the development of their local access network and work with Parish Councils, volunteers and other community organisations to

- o Support their management of the network
- o Develop ideas for projects benefitting their local area
- o Support a volunteer network on Norfolk Trails
- o Develop other volunteer opportunities
- o Include users, volunteers and communities in the governance of the Access Network through the Norfolk Local Access Forum

o Support an independent Charitable Organisation (Pathmakers) in developing and funding community projects

(Care for our health)

vii) A healthy Access Network We will improve the health and wellbeing of users through active travel initiatives and leisure use of



Strategic commitments

the access network. We will develop support and projects for those who would benefit from additional physical activity as identified in the Norfolk Public Health Strategy, particularly those not currently using the network particularly:

- o People with physical disabilities
- o People with mild to moderate mental health issues including dementia
- o The elderly
- o Children
- o Young people
- o Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups

(Care for our economy)

viii) A Valuable Access Network Maximise the economic benefits to Norfolk that are generated through the access network. Work with businesses, tourism agencies and DMOs (Destination Management Organisations) and others to maximise the benefits for the visitor economy

o Develop a supportive network of businesses linked to Norfolk Trails

o Website and walks showing links to businesses and other facilities

o Promote the network with partners as part of the Visit Norfolk offer

- o Systems for measuring the benefit of access to the environment
- ? Route counters to measure the number of users
- ? Surveys to analyse the characteristics of use

Delivery plans

7.1.3 Structure for Delivery Plans, evaluation and reviews etc.

7.1.4 Details of process for changes to key policies

7.2 Delivery Plans - Short/ medium term actions

Structure is spreadsheet called structure for delivery plans

Delivery: Create a well managed access network

<u>Develop a well-signed,</u> <u>maintained and accessible</u> <u>network of routes</u> – both public rights of way and promoted trails, which provides access to coastal, rural and urban areas. Develop and maintain good systems and standards for:

- managing and improving signage
- managing path surfaces/ and vegetation
- accessible routes without barriers
- enforcement of regulations by landowners
- reporting issues for volunteers and users
- monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of the above.

						Who lead/		Contribution Other Plans/
	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	partner	Timetable	Priorities
i) A well-managed Access Network. We will dev								
maintained and accessible network of routes – both								
and promoted trails, which provide access to coas	stal, rural and u	rban						
areas.								
Actions								
Develop and maintain good systems and standards for								
 managing and improving signage 	High			Numbers of each		Highways and Trails Teams, NCC	Annual	TAMP, Norfolk Trails
 managing path surfaces/ and vegetation 	High		PROW and Trails maintained/ created; Cutting contract;	Numbers of each	Countryside Access Officers and Trails Officers	Highways and Trails Teams, NCC	Annual	TAMP, Norfolk Trails
· accessible routes without barriers	Medium		PROW and Trails maintained/ created; Barriers removed and replaced or installed	Numbers of each	Countryside Access Officers and Trails Officers	Highways and Trails Teams, NCC	Annual	TAMP, Norfolk Trails
· enforcement of regulations by landowners	Medium		Letters sent to landowners	Numbers of each	Countryside Access Officers and Trails Officers	Highways and Trails Teams, NCC	Annual	TAMP, Norfolk Trails
 reporting issues for volunteers and users 	Medium		CSC enquiries/ reports	Numbers of each	Countryside Access Officers and Trails Officers	Highways and Trails Teams, NCC	Annual	NCC Customer Services Strategy
· maintaining the definitive map for Norfolk	Medium		Definitive Map	Number of searches	Definitive Map Team	Highways Legal Orders	Annual	TAMP, Norfolk Trails
 recording and managing changes to the definitive map 	Medium		Public Path Orders, Modification Orders, deposits and declarations	Numbers of applications	Definitive Map Team	Highways Legal Orders	Annual	TAMP, Norfolk Trails
• monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of the above	Medium		Follow up system - targets/ achievements The National Highways and Transport Network (NHT) survey	Outcomes	Countryside Access Officers and Trails Officers	Highways and Trails Teams, NCC	Annual	Highways/ Env Team Service Plans



Delivery: Create a well connected access network

Develop an integrated green infrastructure network that provides opportunities for all users. Improve connectivity and accessibility of the network and develop opportunities through

- neighbourhood plans
- the planning process and growth agenda
- Coastal Access
- funding applications for route improvements
- applications to reinstate historical routes by 2026
- connectivity to public transport

	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	Who lead/ partner	Timetable	Contribution Other Plans/ Priorities
A Well Connected Network - Develop an integrated access network that provides opportunities for all users.								
Improve connectivity and accessibility of the network and develop opportunities through								
neighbourhood plans								
 the planning process and growth agenda 								
 funding applications for route improvements 								
 applications to record historical routes (by 2026) 								
 connectivity to public transport 								
Norfolk Access Connectivity Plan (Cliff Jordan's Big Idea?)	High	Medium	Develop Plan	Plan review	Apply to Policy and Resources Committee	NCC/ Districts	2018-2023?	
Norfolk Cycling and Walking Strategy	High	Medium	Develop Plan	Plan review	DoT Sustainable Transport Fund	NCC/ Districts		
Coastal Access - England Coast Path	High	Low	Plan Agreed	Plan review	Natural England/ others Tourism	Natural England/ NCC	2014 - 2020	
Greater Norwich Infrastructure Plan	Med	Low	Plan Agreed	Annual review		NCC/ Districts	Annual Review	
					Section 106/ Community			
Kings Lynn?	Med	Low	Strategy	Plan review	Infrastructure Levy Section 106/ Community	KLWNBC Greater Thetford Dev	?	
Thetford ?	Med	Low		Plan review	Infrastructure Levy	Partship	?	
Great Yarmouth	Med	Low	Great Yarmouth Infrastructure Plan	Plan review		GYBC	2014-2029	
					voluntary organisations and	NLAF/ Ramblers/		
Priorities for claiming/ recording historic routes	Med	Low		Annual review	other applicants	NCC	2026	i l

Delivery: Create a well protected green access network

Improve understanding and protection of the natural and historic environment. Develop opportunities through

- recreational impact assessments
- biodiversity plans
- historic environment plans
- AONB and Broads Authority Plans
- educational projects
- Promotion of sustainable transport options

								Contribution
	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	Who lead/ partner	Timetable	Other Plans/ Priorities
i. A well protected network -	Fliolity	NISK	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	partiter	Timetable	Filonties
Improve understanding of and promote access to Norfolk's landscape and natural and historic environment. Develop opportunities through								
recreational impact project			Reports from Project	Annual Review		NCC and District Councils	Ş	
· biodiversity plans			Plans for NCC owned routes	Annual Review		NCC and District Councils	?	
historic environment plans			Plans for NCC owned routes	Annual Review		NCC and District Councils	?	
· AONB				Annual Review		Norfolk Coast Partnership	2014-2019	
Broads Authority Plans			Broads Plan	Annual Review		Broads Authority	2017-2022	
· educational projects			Marriotts Way delivery	Annual Review			2017-2020	
· Promotion of sustainable transport options						Norfolk Trails, Highways Passenger		
			Pushing Ahead	Annual Review		Transport	2017-2019	

Delivery: Create a well promoted access network

<u>Communicate Norfolk's</u> <u>outstanding countryside and</u> <u>the benefits of outdoor activity</u> <u>for all users.</u> Develop a communications plan identifying key user groups (walkers, cyclists, horseriders, motorised vehicle users, disabled users and new users) with key communication channels including

- Website
- Print
- Press/ media
- Social media
- Photo/ video library
- Accessible versions
- Smartphone apps with games and new technology

	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring		Who lead/ partner		Contributio n Other Plans/ Priorities
iii. Well promoted network - to communicate Norfolk's our countryside and the benefits of outdoor activity to a wide audie Develop a communications plan designed to increase audience particularly those who do not currently use the network frequently	nce. es,							
o Communications Plan			Comms Plan	Annual review	Users/ partners	NCC/ Trails	2018	
o Website			Website	Usage/ annual review	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	
o Print			Literature	Feedback/ annual review	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	
o Press/ media			Releases	Response/ publications	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	
o Social media			Trails Twitter and Facebook accounts	Followers/ Twitter/ Facebook reports	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	
o Photo/ video library			Photos/ videos	Usage/ Review	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	
o Events			Events	Attendance/ feedback	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	
o Accessible versions			Versions	Usage/ Annual review	Projects	NCC/ Trails	2018-2023	

Delivery: Create a well informed access network

Keep up to date web-based definitive and interactive maps and other access network information making best use of new technologies.

- PROW interactive map showing where there is public access
- Norfolk Trails interactive map showing promoted routes – long distance trails and circular routes
- Definitive Map of PROW showing the legal map base systems
- PDF downloads of short and circular walks
- 360° views of Norfolk
 Trails using
 Googletrekker technology

	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitorin g	Resource s	Who lead/ partner	Timetable	Contribution Other Plans/ Priorities
i. A Well Informed Network Keep up to date web- based definitive and interactive maps and other access network information.								
o PROW interactive map showing where there is public access			PROW Interactive Map	Annual report usage		NCC Highways	Annual	
 Norfolk Trails interactive map showing promoted routes – long distance trails and circular routes 			Trails Interactive Map	Annual report usage		NCC Norfolk Trails	Annual	
o Definitive Map of PROW – showing the legal map base systems			Definitive Map	Annual report usage		NCC Highways	Annual	
o PDF downloads of short and circular walks			Trails Short and Circular Walks	Annual report usage		NCC Trails	Annual	
o 360° views of Norfolk Trails using Googletrekker technology			tbc			Norfolk Trails	tbc	
Active Norfolk map of health outcomes in Norfolk, with a layer for Norfolk Trails			o Norfolk Insight/ Active Norfolk Active Map	Annual report usage		Active Norfolk	Annual	
Natural England survey with information about the ways that people engage with the natural environment such as visiting the countryside, enjoying green spaces in towns and cities, watching wildlife and volunteering to help protect the natural environment.			Natural England MENE	Annual report usage		Natural England	Annual	

Delivery: Create a community access network

Increase involvement of communities in the development of their local access network. Work with Parish Councils, volunteers and other community organisations to

- Support management of the network
- Develop ideas for projects benefitting their local area
- Support a volunteer network on Norfolk Trails
- Develop other volunteer opportunitiesInclude communities in the governance eg LAF

	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	Who lead/ partner	Timetable	Contribution Other Plans/ Priorities
A Community Network Increase invo of communities in the development of access network. Work with Parish Cou volunteers and other community organis	heir local Incils,							
o Support community network management			Number of events for Parishes/ Parish schemes	Annual report - feedback	,	Norfolk Trails, Highways		
o Develop ideas for projects benefitting the local area			Number of project ideas		NCC, Districts and Parishes	NCC		
o Support volunteer networks			Highways Rangers, Norfolk Trails Volunteers	•	,	Norfolk Trails, Highways		
o Develop other volunteer opportunities			Friends Schemes	Annual report - feedback	Norfolk Trails	NCC		
o Include users, volunteers and communities in the governance of the Access Network through the Norfolk Local Access Forum			Norfolk Local Access Forum meetings	and minutes	Democratic Services and Norfolk Trails			
o Support an independent Charitable Organisation (Pathmakers) in developing and funding community projects			Pathmakers Business Plan Meetings	Review of plan Meeting	Norfolk Local Access	Norfolk Local Access Forum		



Delivery: Create a healthy access network

Improve public health and wellbeing through active travel and leisure use of the access network. Develop support and projects for those not currently using the network who would benefit from exercise:

- People with physical disabilities
- People with mild to moderate mental health issues including dementia
- The elderly
- Children
- Young people, Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups

	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	Who lead/ partner	Timetable	Contribution Other Plans/ Priorities
. <i>A Healthy Network</i> Improve public health and wellbeing through use of the access network. Develop support and projects for those not currently using the network who would benefit from exercise:								
People with physical disabilities			Improvements to routes		Various projects	NCC		
People with mild to moderate mental health issues including dementia			Dementia Walks		SAIL	NCC	2016-2019	
The elderly			Outdoor activities for older people		SAIL	NCC	2016-2019	
Families with young children			Activities and events		Marriotts Way	NCC	2017-2019	
. Schools			Activities and events		Pushing Ahead	NCC	2017-2019	
Young people			Activities and events		Pushing Ahead	NCC	2017-2019	
Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups			tbc					

Delivery: Create a valuable access network

Maximise the economic benefits to Norfolk that are generated through the access network. Work with businesses, tourism agencies and DMOs (Destination Management Organisations) and others to maximise the benefits for the visitor economy

- Develop a supportive network of businesses linked to Norfolk Trails
- Website and walks showing links to businesses and other facilities
- Promote the network with partners as part of the Visit Norfolk offer
- Systems for measuring the benefit of access to the environment
- Route counters to measure the number of users
- Surveys to analyse the characteristics of use

					_	Who lead/		Contribution Other
	Priority	Risk	Outputs	Monitoring	Resources	partner	Timetable	Plans/ Priorities
A Valuable Network								
Maximise the economic benefi	its to Norfe	olk that						
are generated through the acce	ess netwo	rk						
including via tourism. Work with	h busines.	ses,						
tourism agencies and DMOs (L	Destinatio	n						
Management Organisations) a	and others	to						
maximise the benefits of the ac	ccess net	vork						
and outdoor activity								
				Minutes of				
o Develop a supportive network of businesses				meetings	National Trail,			
				Annual	Coastal	NCC/ Norfolk		
linked to Norfolk Trails			Network/ networks established	review	Treasures	Trails	2017-2019	
o Website and walks								
showing links to				Annual	National Trail,			
businesses and other				review	Coastal	NCC/ Norfolk		
facilities			Website with links to businesses set up	website stats	Treasures	Trails	2017-2019	
o Promote the network				Annual				
with partners as part of the				review				
Visit Norfolk offer			Visit Norfolk Walking/ Cycling offers	website stats		Visit Norfolk		LEP Economic Strategy
o Systems for measuring								
the benefit of access to the								
environment								
§ Route counters to								
measure the number of			Reports on usage of Trails from route	Insight Track		NCC/ Norfolk		
			counters	Report		Trails		LEP Economic Strategy
§ Surveys to analyse				la siskt Tarri				
the characteristics of			Departs on foodback from upper	Insight Track		NCC/ Norfolk		
users			Reports on feedback from users	Report		Trails	+	LEP Economic Strategy New Anglia Economic
Coordination with other						Norfolk Local		Strategy, Rural
partners/ agencies			Consultations, attendance at events	Feedback		Access Forum		Development Plan
partiters/ ayencies	I	I	Consultations, attenuance at events	I CEUDACK		AUGESS FUTUIT	1	

Actions 2018-2028

7.2.1 An Evaluation of Progress delivering NAIP and previous Action Plans; Delivery, Public Benefit, Statement Action met

7.2.2 Review of Policies for Management of PROW

- Maintenance, improvement and enforcement PROW;
- managing Definitive Map and Statement, authorisation and recording of limitations;
- dealing with changes to the network such as diversions, extinguishments, creation PROW

7.2.3 SMART Work Plan

Outputs, Monitoring, Resources, Who lead/ partner, Statement Action objective, Timetable Identify how they contribute to other plans/ priorities – spec Active Travel, Well-Being and Area Statements. About the NAIP | Progress | Future needs | Gaps | Network condition | Crossover | Actions 2018-2028 | Appendices





Annual Delivery Plan



The Countryside Access Network





The Countryside Access Network



Norfolk Local Access Forum

Item No.

Report title:	The health benefits of walking and cycling
Date of meeting:	11 October 2017
Responsible Officer:	Steve Miller, Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage

Strategic impact

This work will help inform the Council and the Local Access Forum about the benefits of walking and cycling – both economic and health – to better plan initiatives for Norfolk

Executive summary

Whilst we all know that taking exercise – in particular walking and cycling – is good for us, we do not have detailed evidence to support the statement. As part of the Pushing Ahead programme, the Medical School at the University of East Anglia is working with the Environment Team at Norfolk County Council and Active Norfolk to evaluate the benefits of a range of active travel activities. They will explain why they got involved, how they have set up the evaluation and report on progress to date.

Recommendations:

The Norfolk Local Access Forum to

- note the report and presentation
- recommend the final results be taken into account in forward planning for walking and cycling and active travel initiatives in Norfolk

1. **Proposal (or options)**

1.1 **Monitoring and Evaluation for "Pushing Ahead, Your Journey Your Way"** The University of East Anglia have developed an evaluation protocol for the "Pushing Ahead, Your Journey Your Way" programme. This builds on the evaluation strategy that is currently being delivered during the Sustainable Transport Transition Year AtoBetter initiative, 2016-17. This involves specific evaluation for key activities (e.g. Personal Travel Plans and Bikeability) as well as the production of an overall evaluation framework where key performance indicators for the programme will be collected.

The framework also involves a process evaluation; process evaluation is central to determining how interventions work and whether their mechanisms perform as intended. It will therefore provide understanding of how the context within which interventions are developed and implemented impacts their effectiveness. All staff engaged in the AtoBetter initiative are engaged with the evaluation protocol, and will continue to work with UEA to collect the necessary data at all stages of programme delivery.

Funding from the Access Fund allows continuity and enables robust evaluation of the interventions over a longer time frame than is typically possible. So as to ensure project delivery is closely linked to intelligence from the evaluation, the University chairs the Programme Evaluation Group which meets on a monthly basis and comprise the heads of the various delivery programmes and will also sit on the Project Delivery Board.

The University will explain why they got involved, how they have set up the

evaluation and report on progress to date.

2. Evidence

2.1 One of the Key challenges identified for Pushing Ahead was health inequality

The Index of Multiple Deprivation indicator for health shows inequality across the Pushing Ahead project study area with parts of central Norwich and coastal Great Yarmouth and Lowestoft showing that health is poor in comparison with national statistics. In the most deprived wards, life expectancy at birth is well below the average for England. For example, in the most deprived wards in Great Yarmouth, the life expectancy for a male is 73.2 years and for a female is 78.9, compared to an average in UK of 79.6 years for males and 83.2 years for females.

3. Financial Implications

3.1. Funded from the Department for Transport Access Fund

4. Issues, risks and innovation

4.1. Improved understanding about the health and economic benefits of walking and cycling will assist the County Council plan and target its resources where most needed reducing the risk of poor planning.

5. Background

5.1 **"Pushing Ahead, Your Journey Your Way"** " is a £1.66m programme mainly funded by the Department for Transport Access Fund and focuses on increasing cycling and walking in key growth areas of Norfolk. The programme builds on the successful and innovative AtoBetter travel planning programme and all the initiatives being delivered using the Sustainable Transport Transition Year (STTY) funding to expand their impact in to other locations, to focus on functional barriers to cycling and walking, not local authority borders. The programme will improve access to employment, education and training, increase active travel and create a legacy where all forms of sustainable travel become the norm.

The high level objectives were set to align with the ambitions of the Department for Transport Access Fund:

- 1. To support economic growth across New Anglia
- 2. To improve public health across New Anglia

Officer Contact

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper or want to see copies of any assessments, eg equality impact assessment, please get in touch with:

Officer name :	Andrew Hutcheson	Tel No. :	01603 222767
----------------	------------------	-----------	--------------

Email address : andrew.hutcheson@norfolk.gov.uk



If you need this report in large print, audio, braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.

Local Access Forum

Item No.

_	
Date of meeting: 1	11 October 2017
•	Steve Miller, Assistant Director, Culture and Heritage

Strategic impact

To address the concerns raised by the Local Access Forum with regards to Public Rights of Way Management and delivering the service in an economic and cost effective way.

Executive summary

At the July 2017 Local Access Forum, it was agreed that at each future meeting, a summary of the work the Countryside Access Officers and Environment teams would be provided.

This paper highlights this work in terms of the volumes of customer queries received and responded to. The paper also highlights other key areas of work.

Recommendations:

That the Local Access Forum note the progress made to date since the Countryside Access Officer posts were introduced.

1. Introduction

1.1. Since 1 April 2017, there is a single point of contact within each Highways Area office being responsible for their local rights of way issues. By having the officer within the Area office they are more "on the ground" and better placed to deal with the operational reactive issues that occur when managing rights of way. They are supported by the wider Highways Area team staff. Other officers were retained within County Hall to carry out strategic and developmental aspects of developing the countryside access network.

2. Performance

2.1. The tables below summarise the performance information available for the complete months between April and August 2017. As well as breaking down the information between North, South & West, the classification of the report is also highlighted. From this information it can be seen that the majority of reports relate to overgrown surfaces, overgrown hedges and trees and damaged and missing signs.

Row Labels	North	South	Trails	West	Grand Total
	3	4			7
PROW - Animal(s)	3	2		5	10
PROW - Bridge	4	14		3	21
PROW - Crops/ploughing affecting footpath	61	63		12	136
PROW - Damaged or missing sign	62	99		20	181
PROW - Dirty sign		1			1
PROW - Flooded Path	2	12		1	15
PROW - Gate/Barrier	26	28		7	61
PROW - Illegal / Vehicle Use	7	6		6	19

PROW - Misleading sign	17	20		4	41
PROW - Obstruction -e.g. building works, fences,					
ditches, locked gate	47	38		14	99
PROW - Overgrown hedge/tree	97	88		24	209
PROW - Overgrown surface -e.g. grass/weeds	91	75		53	219
PROW - Steps damaged/other	8	6		2	16
PROW - Stile damaged/too/high/other	11	22		11	44
PROW - Surface condition	44	37		21	102
PROW - Tree dangerous/fallen	19	24		1	44
Trail - Animal(s)			2		2
Trail - Crops/ploughing affecting footpath			2		2
Trail - Damaged or missing sign	3	3	3		9
Trail - Dirty sign		1			1
Trail - Gate/Barrier		1			1
Trail - Illegal / Vehicle Use	1				1
Trail - Misleading sign	7		3	1	11
Trail - Overgrown hedge/tree	1	1	4		6
Trail - Overgrown surface -e.g. grass/weeds	14	2	20	5	41
Trail - Steps damaged/other	2		3	1	6
Trail - Surface condition	3	1	3		7
Trail - Tree dangerous/fallen	7	5	3	1	16
Trail- Obstruction -e.g. building works, fences, ditches,					
locked gate		3	1	2	6
Trail- Stile damaged/too/high/other	1				1
Grand Total	541	556	44	194	1335

- 2.2. At the end of August, 52% of the 1,335 queries had been resolved.
- 2.3. In addition to the numbers above, there have been a number of enforcement notices sent out to landowners. The following have been issued:
 - 85 number Section 134-137 Non-reinstatement Notices sent
 - 11 number Section 143 Removal Obstruction Notices sent

To date 85 of the 96 have resolved and the remaining are ongoing and being actively monitored and pursued with landowners.

- 2.4. In terms of other progress, key highlights include:
 - Grasscutting of the higher priority public rights of way network was completed in July 2017 with the second cut due to be completed shortly.
 - Surfacing improvement works for Horsford RB3 was completed in September.
 - A number of meetings with Parish Councils have been held where local concerns have been highlighted. To date these have mainly been in the south area and include: Forncett, Tacolneston, Tivetshall, Dereham, Wacton, Starston, Beetley and Winfarthing.
 - In June 2017, an evening Footpath Warden meeting was attended at Bunwell Village Hall. There was very good attendance and representation from local surrounding Parishes, The Ramblers and members of the public. There were several positive outcomes from this meeting including Parishes working together in the future to cut and monitor their public rights of way. A brief understanding of who is responsible for what on rights of way along with information on how best to report defects to the County Council. The meeting helped in building good working relationships between all the different bodies in attendance.
 - 2 vegetation cuts of the Trails have been completed. The third cut will be started in October which will last the winter period.

- Handrail repair work has been completed on the National Trail at Beeston Bump
- Access improvement work has been completed on the Little Ouse Path as part of the Breaking New Ground Project
- Surfacing work has been procured for the next stretch of access improvement on the Little Ouse Path at Santon Downham and this work will commence at the end Sept 2017
- Over £5,000 worth of tree work has been undertaken on the Weavers way, Marriotts Way and on the Pingo trail to make the routes safe
- Norfolk hosted the DEFRA announcement about Natural England progress of the England Coast Path – they are now working on 100% of coastal access. This was attended by Lord Gardiner and attended by members of the local access forum as well as other invited guests. This received local news coverage and national twitter and facebook coverage by Defra

3. Financial Implications

3.1. None arising from this report

4. Issues, risks and innovation

4.1. None at this stage

5. Background

5.1. The background information to this paper is covered by the preceding paper on Public Rights of Way Maintenance, presented to this Committee.

Officer Contact

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper or want to see copies of any assessments, eg equality impact assessment, please get in touch with:

Officer name :	Matt Worden	Tel No. :	01603 819801
	Russell Wilson		

Email address : <u>Matt.worden@norfolk.gov.uk</u>



If you need this report in large print, audio, braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.

Norfolk Local Access Forum

Item No.

Report title:	Pathmakers – building organisational capacity		
Date of meeting:	11 October 2017		
Responsible Officer: Steve Miller, Assistant Director Culture and Heritage			
Strategic impact	ights of Way Improvement Plan 2007-2017		

Delivers Objective 2G of Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2007-2017

"Increase the number and promotion of easy access routes, including access for wheelchair users"

Executive summary

Pathmakers (CIO) is the charitable arm of the Norfolk Local Access Forum and is continuing to work to improve opportunities for safe and sustainable ways to access the countryside in Norfolk. To improve organisational capacity, Pathmakers is preparing a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) (Resilient Heritage Fund) to further its development.

Recommendations:

That the Norfolk Local Access Forum supports the Pathmakers initiative to make a bid to the HLF (Resilient Heritage Fund).

1. **Proposal (or options)**

- The Heritage Lottery fund offers Resilient Heritage grants to organisations in the UK who want to build their capacity or achieve significant strategic change. This is to be achieved through acquiring new skills or knowledge or new models of governance, leadership, business and income, in order to improve management of heritage for the long term.
 - 2. The Fund is a flexible programme and can support a wide range of activities. It is available for non-for-profit organisations.
 - 3. Pathmakers proposes to put in a strong case for funding to strengthen the resilience of the organisation itself to enable it to deliver better access to the countryside for all, particularly Norfolk's most vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. Public rights of way are a priceless heritage, available freely to everyone who can access them: in Norfolk, Pathmakers is seeking to create as much good access to the countryside as possible to better accommodate the needs of those with disabilities. Natural heritage, the outstanding wildlife and landscapes of Norfolk can be better protected and more readily enjoyed by ensuring visitors stick to well signed paths
 - 4. The bid will also develop ideas to improve access to some of Norfolk's built heritage (windmills and windpumps) owned by the Council and/or the Norfolk Mills and Pumps charitable Trust. This could set out stages required (starting off with a feasibility study looking at the proximity of mills to the paths network etc.).
 - 5. The bid is likely to be made in partnership with Norfolk County Council and others (such as the Norfolk Mills and Pumps Trust and possibly also Norfolk Wildlife Trust which has large land holdings and a desire to improve access for all).

- 6. The bid is likely to include the following development areas for Pathmakers:
 - a. Development of a strategic vision
 - b. Development of a business plan
 - c. Better understanding of the organisation's unique offer and opportunity
 - d. Trustee skills
 - e. Fundraising and marketing, development of a small local grant scheme
 - f. Better integration with key partners involved with Norfolk's countryside access network
- 7. These outputs for Pathmakers will be driven by a self-employed consultant, recruited for a period of 18 months
- 8. It is envisaged that it will be necessary to apply for a grant of £100,000 (applications to this value do not require a cash contribution)
- To develop the funding bid, Pathmakers is holding a trustee workshop on 21st November. The workshop will produce an action plan for increasing resilience including skills, people, funding and partners to feed into the HLF Resilience Fund bid.

2. Evidence

2.1. Please see 'proposal'

3. Financial Implications

3.1. There are no financial implications for Norfolk County Council as Pathmakers is an independent Charity with Trustees who have responsibility for budgeting and funding. Pathmakers plans to apply for between £50,000 and £100,000 to cover the costs of a person and other expenses relevant to the bid.

4. Issues, risks and innovation

4.1. NCC and cross-trust/charity working will strengthen partnerships

5. Background

5.1. Pathmakers (CIO) – the NLAF's charitable arm - is continuing to work to improve opportunities for safe and sustainable ways to access the countryside in Norfolk. Pathmakers can bridge the gap between the NLAF's aims for improvements to access and what is feasible (given restricted capacity in local communities and the limitations of the public sector to make improvements on the ground). For example, Pathmakers will seek to make the countryside more accessible to benefit rural communities by securing resources to make this possible.

Officer Contact

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper or want to see copies of any assessments, eg equality impact assessment, please get in touch with:

Officer name : Martin Sullivan Tel No. : 01603 879741

Email address : martinsullivan4x4@yahoo.co.uk



If you need this report in large print, audio, braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.

Norfolk Local Access Forum

Item No.

Report title:	Local Access Forum annual review 2016-2017
Date of meeting:	11 October 2017
Responsible Officer:	Steve Miller, Assistant Director Culture and Heritage

Strategic impact

This is the annual report for submission to Natural England for the period 2016-2017. The strategic impact for Norfolk County Council will be limited to the statutory duty to note advice from the Norfolk Local Access Forum.

Executive summary

Recommendations:

That the Members of the Norfolk Local Access Forum note the Annual Report April 2016 – March 2017 (Appendix A) and agree the priorities for 2017/18

1. **Proposal (or options)**

- 1.1 That the Annual Report is agreed and the main priorities for the Norfolk Local Access Forum for 2017/18 are:
 - To organise further Parish Paths Conferences, but to hold smaller events based on the district council areas
 - To continue to look for schemes that may support alternative approaches to management of Permissive Paths
 - To develop a business plan and resources for Pathmakers projects.

2. Evidence

- 2.1. None
- 3. Financial Implications
- 3.1. None
- 4. Issues, risks and innovation
- 4.1. None

5. Background

5.1. Natural England has a statutory role to receive copies of Local Access Forum (LAF) annual reports. In addition to the Natural England statutory function, they provide support to LAFs by championing their role at national and local levels and by facilitating the exchange of good practice. LAFs are important local organisations which at their best, provide a genuine focus of civil society engagement and are an example of localism in action. By bringing together volunteers from a range of backgrounds and interests, the LAFs play an important role in local decision making relating to a range of social, economic

and environmental issues.

Natural England have used the information provided by the LAFs to produce the Annual Reports. These have been shared with government and interested stakeholders. The reports provide fascinating snapshots of the work of LAFs and contain examples of LAF achievements and an insight into their concerns.

Officer Contact

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper or want to see copies of any assessments, eg equality impact assessment, please get in touch with:

Officer name : Martin Sullivan (Chair) and Tel No. : 01603 224461 Sarah Abercrombie (Coordinator)

Email address : <u>Sarah.abercrombie@norfolk.gov.uk</u>



If you need this report in large print, audio, braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.

Appendix A

Name of LAF	Norfolk Local Access Forum
Name of LAF Chair	Martin Sullivan
Name of LAF Secretary	Hollie Adams (Minute Secretary) Sarah Abercrombie (Coordinator)

Total number of LAF members	22
Number of members representing users of public rights of way or access land	9
Number of members representing owners and occupiers of access land or land	1
over which PROW subsist	
Number of members representing other interests	12

Number of full LAF meetings held	4	Number of sub-group meetings held	12
Number of working groups led by	0	Number of training days provided by	0
others		the Appointing Authority	
How many km of PROW have been	0	How much funding did the LAF (or	£48,496
improved due to LAF input?		an associated body) raise?	
How many extra volunteer hours wer	e commit	ted to public access (not including	120
LAF committee meetings)?			

Partners your LAF worked with during 2016/17 (click on a box or type 'x')

Local Nature Partnerships	Local Enterprise Partnerships	
Health and Wellbeing Boards	LEADER funding Local Action Groups	

LAF achievements/making a difference?¹ Please give examples to illustrate how your LAF has improved public access to land for the purpose of open air recreation and the enjoyment of the area. Do you think your LAF has made a difference to public access in your area via its discussions and actions?

The Norfolk LAF's charity arm Pathmakers first project to add 600m of raised boardwalk at Burgh Castle was completed. This boardwalk also enabled wheelchair users to complete a circular route around the Roman Castle site, as well as adding an all seasons section to the long-distance path Angles Way.

The LAF continues to work closely with both the Highways and PRoW departments. The Norfolk Trails team has continued its excellent work, making improvements in signage and maintenance of their trails.

The LAF has major concerns on the continuing loss of permissive paths and formed a sub-group with the intention of attempting to encourage our Parish Councils to look at taking on the responsibility of encouraging land owners to keep their permissive paths after the funding has been withdrawn. Unfortunately, this has in most cases this has not been taken up. The group continues to look for solutions and seeking possible funding, and are working with FWAG (Farming and Wildlife Action Group)

The Chair and Vice-chair have expressed concerns about the increase in fly-tipping in the countryside and has met separately with Norfolk's waste reduction officer. This is ongoing but the district councils have expressed interest in looking at a coordinated approach. Land owners are particularly concerned as tipping let on their land becomes their responsibility and this can be very costly for something that is not of their doing.

We began the consultation and production of the new Countryside Access Improvement Plan (CAIP) for 2017 -2027.

Opening of the second stretch of the Norfolk Coast Path between Sea Palling and Hopton-on-Sea; plus advising on stretch 3 between Hunstanton and Sutton Bridge. Pathmakers continues to look for appropriate opportunities to improve public access and consider effective ways to generate funding. Set up of Pathmakers Charitable Incorporated Organisation. Pathmakers - Branding

Following meetings of Walking and Cycling Group a PROW Sub-Group was Set up with CPRE, Ramblers, U3A and OSS

What activity did your LAF undertake to help record historical PROW before 2026?

Public Rights of Way Sub-Group put 2026 onto the LAF agenda The NCC Senior Officer responsible for recording rights on the Definitive Map kept the LAF informed about the new Deregulation Act 2015 - although it will not take effect until the regulations have been published.

Parish Paths Conference - NLAF member gave a presentation on applications for recording historical rights of way.

Please add numbers to the following differentiating between formal consultations and general advice given by the LAF on particular subjects. If a consultation covered more than one subject area, please count separately.

	Consultations	Advice	Optional Detail
Green Infrastructure strategies			
Transport (LTP, traffic management, rail, DfT, Highways Agency)	1	1	Cycling and Walking – Active Travel Strategy
Water / Coast (slipways, flood defence, EA, shoreline)			
	I	-	
Public open space (public space protection orders		1	Fly tipping meeting
Dog control/exclusion/on leads/fouling orders			
	1		
Planning applications /Housing development schemes			
Land use and planning matters (e.g. informal advice on land development)			
Local development frameworks and planning strategies			
	1 1		
PROW creation, diversion or closure - number of each			
Recording lost ways/historical rights - working towards the 2026 cut-off		1	Deregulation Act 2015
Right of Way Improvement Plan review		1	Sub-Group helped Review
Route improvements (to PROW and other multi-user/cycling/horse-		2	Pathmakers improvement Burgh Castle
riding/walking routes)			Whitwell Station – Marriotts
Promotion of access, open air recreation and the enjoyment of the area			

Vehicular access and issues relating to motorised use of PROW			
Parish Council or other grant schemes			
Access for people with reduced mobility		1	Audit for boardwalk
Commons, village greens			
	1		
Open Access land restrictions			
Coastal Access/National Trails			
NNR dedication			
	1		
Greenspace including Country Parks and			
Local Nature Reserves			
Nature conservation (including SSSIs)			
Agri-environment scheme issues (HLS		1	Sub-Group – permissive paths
and new Countryside Stewardship) e.g.			scheme set up
expiring permissive access agreements,			
effects of land management options on			
public access etc.			
Forestry and woodland			

Any other LAF activity (please specify):

What are your top priorities for the year ahead?

To organise further Parish Paths Conferences, but to hold smaller events based on the district council areas

To continue to look for schemes that may support alternative approaches to management of Permissive Paths

To develop a business plan and resources for Pathmakers projects

Do you foresee any issues or challenges that may affect your LAFs operation and/or its ability to deliver improvements to public access in the coming year?

We have major concerns about the National Government support for access to the countryside as a result of Brexit.

Is there any particular support or training that you need to deliver your priorities or work program for next year?

A course was held on the Responsibilities of Trustees and managing our CIO -Pathmakers, and we continue to look for other opportunities for training.

Summarise any feedback received from section 94(4) bodies²

Comments from the Appointing Authority

We value the input from LAF members, providing help and advice on a range of topics. Despite the frustration of LAF members about the savings the Council has been required to make impacting on the delivery of the Public Rights of Way maintenance, they continue to contribute constructive suggestions and offers of help.

Their help advising on the development of the new 10 year Rights of Way Improvement Plan (Norfolk Access Improvement Plan) has been particularly welcome in the past year. The members who have become trustees have also put aside time and energy supporting the development of Pathmakers – the new Charitable Organisation - and without their contribution it would not be possible to take this initiative forward.

Comments from LAF Chair

As this is my second year as Chairman I feel we have made some significant steps towards our aims. The establishment of our charity arm, the two subgroups looking into permissive paths and the PRoW sub group have helped with managing the main meetings.

Our intention to have a forward plan aimed at specific themes for each meeting which we hope will enable those members that have difficulty in attending the daytime meeting to plan accordingly.

Any other comments

² The Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000, Section 94(4) specifies that it is the function of a local access forum, as respects to the area for which it is established, to advise the appointing authority; the local highway authority; other bodies exercising functions under CROW Act Part 1 (Natural England, Forestry Commission and English Heritage) and such other bodies as may be prescribed. These other bodies are set out in the LAF Regulations 2007, paragraph 21, and include: any conservation board established by the Secretary of State, any parish or town council in the area covered by the LAF, and Sport England.

Norfolk Local Access Forum

Item No.

Report title:	Norfolk Local Access Forum procedures
Date of meeting:	11 October 2017
Responsible Officer:	Steve Miller, Assistant Director Culture and Heritage

Strategic impact

To improve coordination and planning of agenda topics and responses to consultations for the Norfolk Local Access Forum enabling more timely advice to the County Council

Executive summary

Recommendations:

- 1. To agree an annual forward planning procedure for agenda items
- 2. To agree a system for coordinating and responding to consultations
- 3. To agree a system for further actions such as letters with advice, comments or requests

1. **Proposal (or options)**

1.1. That forward planning for agenda items are part of the County Council Committee Management System CMIS and it is used for forward planning for the year. The system is flexible and allows for changes and updates, so the Chair and Vice-Chair would be able to adjust, add and change items as needed. NLAF members would feed in their suggestions to the Chair who can arrange for any additions or changes. The plan can be circulated in advance of each meeting to keep NLAF members informed.

That consultations are circulated to NLAF members as they arrive. Individual responses to be sent by NLAF members to the NLAF Chair with a copy to the NLAF Coordinator a week prior to the deadline and the Chair/ Coordinator to compile a response.

Further actions coming out of NLAF meetings or sub-group meetings requiring a letter being sent to other organisations including local and national government departments or further documentation to be recorded by the NLAF coordinator with a copy circulated to NLAF members. Any responses from the action to be recorded and circulated to NLAF members.

2. Evidence

- 2.1. Example of Agenda Items from Members (See Appendix A for annual plan):
 - NCC PROW Reporting System problems with tracking
 - Enforcement NCC policy of enforcement for non-compliance of landowners on PROW

Consultations which have been received since last meeting July:

- NERC Act 2006 Call for Evidence deadline 11th September 2017
- Coordinated NLAF response sent commenting on role of Natural England (see appendix x)

• River Wensum Strategy – deadline 15th September 2017

• Greater Thetford Partnership Community Group – walking and cycling routes investigation – deadline 8th September 2017

• Titchwell Nature Reserve – Review of Direction – deadline 5th September 2017

- Holme Dunes Review of Direction deadline 29th August 2017
- Holme Bird Observatory Review of Direction deadline 4th September 2017

Follow up items:

- Chair's letter to Minister concerning Permissive Access
- Chair's letter to Natural England concerning arrangements for National Conference
- Vice-Chairs meeting with NCC Waste Officer re fly tipping

3. Financial Implications

3.1. None to County Council

4. Issues, risks and innovation

4.1. None to County Council

5. Background

5.1. Currently agendas are decided in the month before the meeting occurs. However there are issues/ topics such as consultation procedures which can be planned into agendas ahead and provide a more balanced and effective programme for the meetings as well as helping Council officers prepare and plan their workload – so a coherent forward plan is advised.

Many consultations arrive with relatively short consultation periods (typically 4 – 6 weeks) and it is not possible to present them to the NLAF at a meeting for a full discussion. It is therefore necessary to have a system of circulation to NLAF members.

Follow up to items agreed at meetings are not always recorded and tracked so that members can easily see what has resulted. It is often not appropriate to have a full agenda item for follow up but a system of recording and updating members about them would be helpful.

Officer Contact

If you have any questions about matters contained in this paper or want to see copies of any assessments, eg equality impact assessment, please get in touch with:

Officer name : Sarah Abercrombie Tel No. : 01603 224461

Email address : Sarah.abercrombie@norfolk.gov.uk



If you need this report in large print, audio, braille, alternative format or in a different language please contact 0344 800 8020 or 0344 800 8011 (textphone) and we will do our best to help.

Norfolk Local Access Forum	Issue/decision	Implications for other service committees?	Requested committee action (if known)	Lead officer
07-Feb-18				
Restructure - NCC Environment Team	Future resources for management of PROW/ Trails			John Jones
NAIP	Final draft for consultation			Sarah Abercrombie
PROW Sub-Group	Parish Council Seminars			Ken Hawkins
Pathmakers	Outcomes Workshop/ HLF Resilience Fund			Martin Sullivan
PROW Reporting System	Note improvements tracking on system			Matt Worden
Walking Cycling Festivals 2017	Outcomes report			Russell Wilson
18-Apr-18				
NAIP results of consultation				Sarah Abercrombie
PROW Sub-Group				
Tourism - Value/ Economic Benefit				Russell Wilson
Coastal Treasures?				Alison Yardy
Permissive Access	Alternative Sources of Funding			Chris Allhusen
Pathmakers				
18-Jul-18				
NLAF Annual Review 2017/18	Priorities for 2018/19			Martin Sullivan
NAIP final for publication		EDT Committee		Sarah Abercrombie
PROW Sub-Group				
Recycling the Railways	Feasibility Study NCC Plans to develop new routes	Policy and Resources Committee		Andy Hutcheson
Windfarm Routes				David White?
24-Oct-18				
PROW Sub-Group				
Cycling and Walking Strategy		EDT Committee		Andy Hutcheson
Pushing Ahead				